# Credit Ratings and Earnings Management in the European Market

Master Thesis

Author:	Vincent Bouwens
Student Number:	357182
Date:	23/07/2017
Master Program:	Accounting and Auditing/Control (ESE)
Coach (Department):	Prof. dr. E.A. de Groot (ESE)
Co-Reader (Department):	Drs. T.P.M. Welten (ESE)

## Abstract

This paper analyses to what extent managers of European firms attempt to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management. A higher credit rating has several benefits for both firms and investors. Managers who successfully improve their credit rating through earnings management see a reduction in their cost of debt. Having a higher credit rating also nullifies restrictions imposed on certain investors from investing in the firm. For this research I follow Ali and Zhang (2008) and use both discretionary accruals and conservatism in reported earnings as a proxy for earnings management. For these proxies the modified Jones model (1991), the Basu model (1997) and the Ball and Shivakumar model (2005) are used. The independent variable, credit rating changes, focuses on both "broad ratings", as well as "micro ratings'. The results show an existence of earnings management for firms near a broad rating downgrade, however, there is no evidence for the existence of earnings management for firms near a broad rating upgrade. The results of this research provide no support for an existence of earnings management for firms near a micro rating change. The effect of the New Credit Rating Agency Regulation is also tested. Results indicate that there is no significant relation between earnings management and credit rating changes in the period after the new regulation, where it was existent in the period before.

## Table of contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Literature review	5
	2.1 Credit ratings	5
	2.1.1 Determinants of credit ratings	7
	2.1.2 Incentives of firms to improve their credit rating	8
	2.1.3 Critique on credit rating agencies	9
	2.2 Earnings management	10
	2.2.1 Incentives for earnings management	11
	2.2.2 Real- and accrual-based earnings management	13
3.	Research question and hypothesis development	15
	3.1 Conceptual framework	15
	3.2 Hypothesis	15
4.	Methodology	18
	4.1 Data	18
	4.2 Measuring Credit Ratings	18
	4.3 Measuring Earnings Management	19
	4.4 Measuring accounting conservatism	20
	4.5 Statistical tests	21
5.	Results	24
	5.1 Discretionary accruals	24
	5.2 Conservatism in reported earnings	27
6.	Summary and conclusion	37
	6.1 Conclusions	37
	6.2 Limitations	38
	6.3 Summary	39
	6.4 Conclusion literature matrix	40
7.	References	42
8.	Appendices	46
	8.1 Appendix 1 Libby Boxes	46
	8.2 Appendix 2 Credit ratings as assigned by different rating agencies	47
	8.2 Appendix 3 Literature Matrix	48

## 1. Introduction

A credit rating can be defined as a quality assessment of the creditworthiness of a debt issuer or a specific debt obligation (U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 2013). They guide investment decisions of investors and reduce the information asymmetry between borrowers and lenders. These ratings are an assessment of the firms creditworthiness by a rating agency, and are published as a rating to divide firms into different groups. Broad credit ratings refer to rating levels without a distinction of minus, middle and plus specification (Ali & Zhang, 2008). For example, if a firm has a rating of either AA-, AA or AA+ it has a broad rating of AA. Firms that are able to change their broad credit rating can achieve several benefits. For example, a change in credit risk could influence the cost of future borrowing, but it can also lead to a significant response in the stock and bond markets. Also a low credit rating could restrict certain investors, like banks and pension funds, from investing in a firm (Kisgen, 2006). Kisgen (2006) also discusses several other benefits (costs) that are associated with an upgrade (downgrade). Prior research confirms the importance of credit ratings by showing that firms take a large amount of interest in their credit rating. For example, Graham and Harvey (2001) present survey evidence that shows that chief financial officers pay strong attention to their firms' credit rating when they make capital structure decisions. Kisgen (2006) goes a little further and finds evidence that firms who are near a broad rating boundary issue less debt than firms elsewhere.

Managers have the opportunity to misuse their managerial discretion in order to increase or decrease the earnings performance of the company over a short term. By doing this they can try to change the perception of credit rating agencies about the credibility of their firm. One of the possibilities that managers have is to inflate or deflate current accruals by shifting income from the future period to the present or by delaying the recognition of expenses. Since investors commonly rely on earnings to value stocks it is a crucial indicator of firm performance. Consequently, managers of a firm have strong incentives to manipulate their earnings to influence investor decisions. Prior literature has examined some cases that show earnings management to be existent around initial public offering (Gounopoulos & Pham, 2017), initial credit ratings (Demirtas & Cornaggia, 2013), new debt issues (Liu, Ning, & Davidson III, 2010) and new bond issues (Ge & Kim, 2014).

Prior research shows that firms attempt to avoid downgrades and try to obtain upgrades (Ali & Zhang, 2008). A change in credit risk rating could influence the cost of future borrowing, but it can also lead to a significant response in the stock and bond markets. If managers can change the perception, of credit risk agencies, about their credit risk they can benefit from this reaction. Based on these findings there is an expected relation between earnings management and credit ratings. This leads to the following research question:

Do managers' of European firms attempt to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management?

Investors, analysts, senior executives and boards of directors consider earnings the single most important item in the financial reports issued by publicly held firms (Degeorge, Patel, & Zeckhauser, 1999), which makes it a prime target for management discretion. Earnings management is used in order to over- or understate earnings by using managerial discretion in the process of matching cash flows to a certain period following financial reporting standards. In this thesis two measures of earnings management are used: discretionary accruals and conservatism in reported earnings. Discretionary accruals are estimated using the Modified Jones model (1991). The other measure is conservatism in reported earnings. Conservatism is measured by the Basu model (1997) and the model of Ball and Shivakumar (2005). Firms that want to change their credit rating by inflating their reported earnings are expected to have larger discretionary accruals and are expected to be less conservative.

The population consists out of European firms with credit ratings from 1996 to 2016 from Moody's, Fitch and S&P. The data for credit ratings is subtracted from Bloomberg, The database Compustat delivers the data for the firm characteristics. The stock prices needed for the market value of equity are subtracted from Datastream.

One of the fundamental differences between US and European firms is that European firms rely far more heavily on debt financing, and specifically on bank lending (Brecht, 2015). De Fiore and Uhlig (2005) find that a higher share of bank finance in the euro area relative to the US is due to lower availability of public information about firms' credit worthiness and to higher efficiency of banks in acquiring this information. A number of financial institutions, such as banks and insurance companies, perform their own rating and thus rely less on credit rating

agencies (Schneinert, 2016). From these statements one could conclude that managers of European firms care less about their credit ratings and the effect of earnings management on credit ratings will be lower in Europe.

This research contributes to multiple streams of literature. First, it relates to the earnings management literature. Healy and Wahlen (1999) define earnings management as managerial judgments and decisions in financial reporting that alter financial reports to either mislead some stakeholders about the underlying economic performance or to influence contractual outcomes. In this research earnings management depends on shifting reporting income and expenses to maintain or improve a firms' own credit rating.

Second, this research relates to the signaling role of credit rating agencies (CRA). CRA provide credit ratings, which are a reflection of a CRAs opinion about the creditworthiness of a firm at a specific date. Frost (2007) states that CRA serve as gatekeepers by providing an independent assessment of the creditworthiness of a borrowing firm by conducting due diligence and reviewing both financial and non-financial sources of information. A credit rating is often used as a signal of overall quality. Some firms desire to signal a certain quality and can use earnings management to obtain a better credit rating that is indicative of that signal. When firms manage their earnings and successfully obtain a higher credit rating this could harm the perceived quality of these credit ratings.

Last, this research relates to the incentives of firms to improve their credit ratings. Demirtas and Cornaggia (2013) find that firms have an incentive to report more aggressively to manage earnings around the time of the credit rating. John et al. (2003) argue that firms use discretionary accruals to inflate earnings in order to obtain a more favorable credit rating and thereby lower their cost of debt. Kisgen (2006) shows that firms with a plus or minus notch rating engage in real activities to preserve or improve their ratings. An alternative to these real activities is earnings smoothing. Managers tend to prefer smooth earnings even if it sacrifices long-term firm value, since more volatile earnings can increase the costs of debt and equity (Graham, Harvey, & Rajgopal, 2005). Another alternative for managers is to directly boost earnings. The research of Jiang (2008) finds that firms who beat earnings benchmarks are more likely to increase the probability of a rating upgrade and could thus reduce their cost of debt.

In order to answer the research question, multiple hypotheses are tested. First, firms are expected to report greater discretionary accruals when they are near a credit rating upgrade (downgrade), where discretionary accruals is used as a proxy for earnings management. Second, firms are expected to inflate their earnings by reporting less conservative when they are near a credit rating change. Third, the effect of earnings management to influence credit ratings is expected to be equal for broad ratings and micro ratings. Last, the effect of earnings management to influence credit rating sis expected to be smaller after the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation, which was adopted in December 2010 to induce additional transparency rules.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In section 2 the relevant prior literature is discussed. Section 3 describes the research question and develops the hypotheses. Section 4 describes the manner in which the main variables are constructed and from where the data is obtained. Section 5 describes the results and section 6 concludes.

### 2. Literature review

In this section the existing literature is reviewed. The starting point is credit ratings. Secondly, the determinants of credit ratings will be highlighted. Third, the incentives of firms to improve their credit ratings will be examined. Then the critique on credit ratings will be discussed. Last, earnings management will be discussed.

#### 2.1 Credit ratings

A credit rating can be defined as a quality assessment of the creditworthiness of a debt issuer or a specific debt obligation (U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 2013). These ratings are published by a credit rating agency whose sole purpose is to assess and publish the creditworthiness and solvency of firms in order to reduce the asymmetry of information between borrowers and lenders. The ratings are assessed by reviewing the business risk, the risk of the company and the firm's financial risk. Credit rating agencies try to guarantee a stable signal of credit quality in the long run (Langohr & Langohr, 2010). Once assessed, the creditworthiness of a firm is published in a rating which consists of a set of letters and divides firms into different groups. Firms who receive a relatively high level of creditworthiness are considered as "investment grade", which refers to bonds and other debt securities that bank regulators and market participants view as a suitable investment for financial institutions (Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, 2014). In contrast, the term "non-investment-grade", or "speculative grade", refers to debt securities where the issuer has the ability to repay but has significant uncertainties. Being in a lower credit rating category is indicative of a higher risk that debt issuer cannot honour its current and future obligations (Schneinert, 2016). The financial product who receive the lowest credit rating are usually marked as 'junk'. In addition, credit ratings often have an indicator of future performance in the form of a '+' or '-', which is indicative of a future rate change in the short or medium term.

The credit ratings are based on past performance and are adjusted throughout the years. Rating agencies watch how the markets treat the financial products of a given firm and perform an in-depth research to formulate their ratings. In their research, the rating agencies analyse different sorts of information and interact directly with management by meetings or facility tours, where they are sometimes accompanied by a rating adviser who is often from an

investment bank (Langohr & Langohr, 2010). Especially for an initial rating this process can be quite extensive, time-consuming and laborious (Langohr & Langohr, 2010). Firms can also apply for a credit rating, for example, before a debt issue. The debt issuer then discusses the rating process and the informational requirements with the credit rating agency.

Credit rating agencies serve as a gatekeeper by providing an independent assessment of the creditworthiness by conducting due diligence and by reviewing both financial and nonfinancial sources of information (Frost, 2007). The agencies function primarily to certify the values of economic entities that approach them (Millon & Thakor, 1985). By certifying the values of these economic entities they create value for firms and investors. Therefore, they publish the ratings twice a year, but they can also publish them at short notice when there, for example, is a sudden decline of market confidence for a given financial product, or if the creditworthiness of the rated agency is suddenly put into question (Schneinert, 2016)

Giving a specific credit rating has consequences for both firms and investors. Credit rating agencies therefore refer to their own rating as an opinion in order to reduce the extent to which they can be held accountable for decisions based on their rating (Schneinert, 2016). One of the consequences for firms is an increase or decrease in their cost of debt. Firms with the same credit rating should have the same cost of debt. When a firms credit rating is downgraded (upgraded) the cost of debt of that firm will increase (decrease), since the firm's riskiness will increase (decrease) and this will be signalled to investors. Thus, in the case of flexible interest rates, a credit rating downgrade is a direct cost for companies when they issue more debt. Other consequences of a firm's rating are, as suggested by Kisgen (2006), that it also affects a firm's operations, access to other financial market, disclosure requirements for bonds and bond covenants. These consequences can contain ratings triggers where a ratings change can have the effect of changes in coupon rates or might result in a forced repurchase of the bond. Kisgen (2006) also suggests that credit ratings have a direct effect on capital structure decisions of managers. These decisions are affected by the potential for both an upgrade as well as a downgrade.

Investors sometimes try to use some other market statistic to judge the quality of prospective purchases. In practice, it is difficult to distinguish good quality from bad quality. This difficulty is inherent in the business world and may be one of the more important aspects of

uncertainty. The lemons model of Akerlof (1970) can be extended to make comments on the incentives of managers to manipulate their earnings, and hence the accounting quality of the firm. In the market issuing debt is in practice seen as a better signal than issuing equity (Myers & Mailuf, 1984). However, recent research has shown that debt financing does not longer dominate equity financing in magnitude (Frank & Goyal, 2003). Over the years those signals of quality vary. Contrary are credit ratings that send a clear, constant signal to the market and is thus a more stable and reliable measure for both investors and firms in order to mitigate the information asymmetry.

#### 2.1.1 Determinants of credit ratings

Ratings can be assigned to issuers, such as corporations, governments and specific debt issues, such as bonds, notes, and other debt securities. Rating agencies typically begin with an assessment of the creditworthiness of the issuer before they assess the quality of a specific debt issue. Standard & Poor's, as one of the big three credit rating agencies, states that it reviews a broad range of financial and business attributes that may influence the issuer's prompt repayment (Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, 2014).

The most important information that credit rating agencies use in their assessment is public information which can be retrieved from the financial statements. This information includes financial ratio's such as the coverage ratio, profitability ratio and leverage (Ashbaugh-Skaife, Collins, & LaFond, 2006). Next to public information, the rating agencies also use non-public information. In order to use this information the rating agencies are excluded from rules that prohibit selectively revealing materially valuable information (Securities and Exchange Commission, 2000). This exemption allows them to interact with the company's management in order to gather private information about the creditworthiness of that company.

The specific factors that are analyzed depend on the type of issuer. For corporate issuers the rating process could be to consider financial and non-financial factors, such as key performance indicators, influences from an economic, regulatory or geopolitical nature and management and corporate governance attributes (Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, 2014). Other factors that are also taken in consideration are the access to liquidity and the loss severity for different sectors (Moody's Investors Service, 2016).

One of the most important, publicly available factors which comes back in several rating agencies variables are cash flow from operations (CFO), since it greatly influences credit ratings. CFO is considered as a key indicator of cash generation and is a great determinant of the ability of the company to pay back its debt. It is positively associated with credit ratings, which means that a higher CFO is indicative of a higher credit rating. Another important factor is the firm's leverage, which is used as a proxy for the firm's default risk. Prior literature shows that firms that have received a downgrade are more likely to reduce debt and less likely to issue debt (Kisgen, 2009). This shows that a firm's financial leverage is negatively associated with their credit rating. Other firm specific characteristics that are mentioned are capital structure, financial policy, liquidity, management/governance and comparable rating analysis (Standard & Poor's Ratings Services, 2014).

On the one hand, rating agencies thus use quantitative data in the rating process and in addition they cover several qualitative variables. On the other hand, they base their expectations on projected economic developments (Afonso, Gomes, & Rother, 2011). While it is clear that credit rating agencies rely on accounting information and that they are important users of a firm's financial statements, it is of great importance to rating agencies that a firms financial report provides a high quality of information about the firm. Recent studies find two measures of transparency, namely the quality of accruals and the timeliness of earnings, which are both positively related to credit ratings (Ashbaugh-Skaife, Collins, & LaFond, 2006).

#### 2.1.2 Incentives of firms to improve their credit rating

Prior research shows that management have a lot to gain based on which credit rating they obtain. Since credit ratings can have a significant implication for firms and a credit rating assessment is based partially upon publicly available financial information, it becomes a target for improvement. Because of the importance of these ratings, managers have an incentive to improve or maintain their credit rating by influencing the rating agencies perception of the firm and could even take potentially costly actions in order to achieve this. For example, a firm's cost of borrowing is based on their credit rating and having a specific rating has an immediate impact on stock and bond valuations (Jung, Soderstrom, & Yang, 2013). Besides the firm-specific effects, one of the key mechanisms of credit ratings is that they bridge the information

asymmetry between firms and investors. It gives investors more information to base their investing decision on and it gives firms better access to debt markets.

The survey evidence of Graham and Harvey (2001) confirm these incentives. They find that chief financial officers pay strong attention to their credit rating when making capital structure decisions. The rating that is assigned also contains important information about a bond issue and its subsequent yield, therefore it is important for a manager to maintain an investment grade, since a downgrade can be very costly. This cost incentive becomes more important when firms have a plus or minus notch rating.

Having a plus or minus notch rating increases the incentives of managers to improve their credit rating, since at that point it becomes easier to obtain an upgrade and there is a greater incentive to avoid a downgrade. Prior research confirms this view by showing that firms near a rating upgrade or downgrade are more likely to engage in earnings management compared to firms who are not near an upgrade or downgrade (Ali & Zhang, 2008) (Jung, Soderstrom, & Yang, 2013). Alissa et al. (2013) also provide evidence that firms use income-increasing (-decreasing) earnings management activities to move toward their expected ratings. Their target is often a specific minimum credit rating level at which regulations do not restrict investments in a firm's bonds and at which access to the commercial paper market is still possible (Kisgen, 2006).

Taking all these studies together shows that firms do focus on their credit ratings and show that these ratings hold meaning for managers.

#### 2.1.3 Critique on credit rating agencies

After the financial crisis a lot of critique emerged on the role of credit rating agencies and their rating process and how this process influenced the financial crisis. While some state that the agencies did not anticipate the financial crisis, Mullard (2012) questions the mathematical models of the rating agencies and states that the weakness of rating agencies became apparent due to the Financial Crisis of 2007.

Grene (2014) argues about the main criticisms of credit rating agencies. She names the issuer-pays model, which was criticised intensively during the crisis, where issuers themselves

must pay the credit rating agencies to rate their securities. This model leads to potential conflicts of interests, since rating agencies under this model are sensitive to the needs of their paying client who wants the highest rating possible to make their securities more appealing to investors. The rating agencies might give a too favourable rating in order to foster a business relationship. The needs of the investor to receive reliable ratings information, however, does not align with the goals of the rating agency and the needs of the issuer. Another critique mentioned in the article is that it creates significant distortions of capital allocation when the ratings are incorrect (Grene, 2014). Credit rating agencies overruled signals from Eurozone countries at the time of the EU debt crisis, which led to huge amounts of capital being withdrawn when the downgrades did come (Grene, 2014).

In a response the EU created an extensive new rating agency regime in 2009. This led to a substantive revision, which subjects credit rating agencies to additional transparency rules, and institutional revisions with respect to the supervisory role of the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) (Moloney, 2011). Through this reform there will be an increase in the supervision on credit rating agencies by giving the ESMA more responsibilities, for example better registration and supervision of credit rating agencies, day-to-day supervision and taking appropriate supervisory measures when they discover a broach of the regulation .

After all the critique on credit rating agencies some investors try to come up with their own risk assessment. However, it is increasingly difficult for investors to engage in their own risk assessments in a world of increasing complexity and opacity (Lynch, 2009). Even if they succeed in assessing a firms risk by themselves it would be inefficient to do so. Credit rating agencies will thus continue to be a prominent source of information about a firms creditworthiness.

#### 2.2 Earnings management

Earnings management includes efforts to achieve a forecasted result or smooth earnings over accounting periods. This can be done in both a legitimate and less than legitimate way. For example by postponing a transaction until a later period, or by accelerating expenses when earnings are high and vice versa. Following Healy and Wahlen (1999), earnings management is defined as follows:

"Earnings management occurs when managers use judgment in financial reporting and in structuring transactions to alter financial reports to either mislead some stakeholders about the underlying economic performance of the company, or to influence contractual outcomes that depend on reported accounting numbers."

#### 2.2.1 Incentives for earnings management

Managers have several reasons to use judgment when they make decisions regarding the accounting practices and the reporting of financial information of the company they manage. The decisions could be either in the interest of the owners of the company and other users or in their self-interest. Managers are, for example, more inclined to engage in earnings management when their compensation is aligned with the companies' financial performance. In that case it is in their interest to give the appearance of better performance through earnings management in order to receive a higher compensation (Xie, Davidson III, & DaDalt, 2003). The combination of management's discretion over reported earnings and the effect on their compensation leads to a potential agency problem.

Earnings management can also be used in the interest of the owners of the company and other users. For example when it is used as a tool to improve the value relevance of earnings. Shareholders will gain when earnings management is used to signal managers' private information, which leads to a better view of firm performance (Healy & Palepu, 1995). Earnings management also enables firms to do business on better terms with their stakeholders, which results in benefits for other stakeholders (Loy, 2016).

However, using earnings management as a signalling effect could also harm investors when management uses it to signal them false information (Xie, Davidson III, & DaDalt, 2003). Investors use this financial information to decide whether to buy, sell, or hold securities. In the case where this information is incorrect investors are not able to correctly value the firm. Earnings management thus obscures the real performance, reduces the ability of shareholders to make an informed decision and allows the firm to operate on better terms than it deserves (Millstein, 2005). In this setting earnings management can be seen as an agency cost.

Managers also engage in earnings management in an attempt to influence capital market participants, for example, prior to seasoned equity offerings [ (Teoh, Welch, & Wong, 1998a)

(Rangan, 1998)] They inflate their earnings to mislead investors in their expectation about the future firm performance. This also occurs prior to an initial public equity offering, however, research has shown that this results in poor stock return performance for the three subsequent years (Teoh, Welch, & Wong, 1998a). For firms that rely on debt financing it may not be beneficial to engage in earnings management since the lower borrowing costs from higher earnings quality is often surpassed by the costs of violating covenants (Ghosh & Moon, 2010).

Graham et al. (2005) provide survey evidence from around 400 financial executives to determine all key factors that drive those executives in their decision related to reported earnings and voluntary disclosure. By examining these factors they try to give more insight on management incentives for earnings management. From the survey they conclude that managers generally want to meet or beat earnings benchmarks to build credibility with the capital market, maintain or increase the stock price, improve the external reputation of the firm and signal future growth prospects. Some managers even admitted that they would give up positive NPV projects or would take economic actions such as delaying maintenance or advertising expenditures to meet earnings benchmarks. Most CFO's in the survey said that they prefer a smooth earnings path instead of a volatile one, since it is perceived as less risky by investors and it improves the predictability of future earnings. Degeorge et al. (1999) examined the effects of benchmarks on earnings management and find a similar result as Graham et al. (2005). They find that efforts to exceed thresholds induce patterns of earnings management, driven by three thresholds: (1) report positive profits, (2) sustain recent performance and (3) meet analysts' expectations. Earnings will be managed upwards when they fall short of these thresholds.

Engaging in earnings management is often perceived as a credit risk increasing activity which is harmful to all parts, except to managers who benefit from it [ (Healy & Palepu, 1995) (Teoh, Welch, & Wong, 1998a)]. However, others argue that earnings management does not harm firm value, on average can be beneficial and suggest that it is not done due to opportunistic reasons (Jiraporn, Yoon, & Kim, 2008). Prior research also suggests that managers are not explicitly motivated to manage earnings, but states that there are thresholds that help derive earnings management (Degeorge, Patel, & Zeckhauser, 1999). Others even state that earnings management may actually be the rational response of issuers to anticipated market behaviour at offering announcements (Shivakumar, 2000).

#### 2.2.2 Real- and accrual-based earnings management

Having defined the concept of earnings management and shed some light on the incentives of earnings management, two types of earnings management are discussed in this paragraph. The first is real earnings management where the consequences can be seen in the current and future cash flow of the company. The last is concerned with the manipulation of accruals which have no direct effect on the cash flow.

Roychowdhury (2006) defines real earnings management as "managements actions that deviate from normal business practices, undertaken with the primary objective of meeting certain earnings thresholds". He uses three different measures for real earnings management: (1) sales manipulation where the timing of sales is accelerated and/or additional unsustainable sales are generated through increased price discounts or more lenient credit terms. This will lead to increased earnings in the current period, but will lower the sales margins in the future. (2) reduction of discretionary expenses which results in lower cash outflows and has a positive effect on abnormal cash flows from operations. (3) overproduction, or increasing production to report a lower cost of goods sold. On the one hand overproduction leads to a decrease in the fixed cost per unit. On the other hand it imposes greater inventory holding costs, which results in lower cash flow from operations at the same sales level.

Second, there is management discretion in using accruals. Ge and Kim (2014) refer to accrual-based earnings management as exercising discretion over accrual choices to reach a desired level of earnings. Accruals arise when there is a difference between the timing of cash flows and the timing of the recognition of transaction on the income statement. Managers have a great amount of influence over the timing of actual expense items, which gives them the opportunity to have a great deal of discretion in determining the actual earnings a firm reports in a certain period by using accrual accounting. They can, to a certain extent, alter the timing of recognition of revenues and expenses by, for example, delaying the recognition of losses or by advancing the recognition of revenues (Teoh, Welch, & Wong, 1998b).

The use of accrual accounting does not mean that earnings management necessarily takes place. There are also some benefits from engaging in accrual accounting. For example, it can provide a smoother picture of the financial performance and it enables investors to better

estimate future earnings potential. Besides the benefits there are some drawbacks as well. Accruals are meant to reduce timing and mismatching problems (Dechow, 1994). However, accruals also give rise to managerial opportunism through earnings management, since it requires managerial judgment, which can influence the reported earnings.

Dechow et al. (1995) test multiple models that detect earnings management. The models they test are the Healy model, the DeAngelo model, the Jones model, the modified Jones model and the Industry model. In all models discretionary accruals are used as a proxy for earnings management. In order to measure discretionary accruals, the estimated non-discretionary accruals are subtracted from total accruals. Dechow et al. (1995) find that the modified Jones model provides the most powerful test of earnings management. It not only controls for changes in receivables in the event period, but also assumes that all changes in credit sales result from earnings management, since it is easier to exercise discretion over credit sales than over cash sales (Dechow, Sloan, & Sweeney, 1995). In addition to the modified Jones model, Kothari et al. (2005) added Return on Assets (ROA) to the equation, since it controls for the effects of performance.

## 3. Research question and hypothesis development

In this chapter the research question is stated and the conceptual framework is drawn. Secondly the hypothesis are formulated.

#### 3.1 Conceptual framework

In this study the research question is: Do managers' of European firms attempt to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management?

This is graphically illustrated in the following figure:



The graphical illustration is also presented in Libby Boxes in appendix 1. Based on the research question and the literature review, the testable research hypotheses are formed in the following section.

#### 3.2 Hypothesis

Prior research shows that firms have significant interest in their credit ratings, for example by showing that managers take it into account when making capital allocation decisions (Graham & Harvey, 2001). Prior literature also shows that firms take action to avoid downgrades or take actions to regain their credit rating once they have been downgraded (Kisgen, 2009). Ali and Zhang (2008) find that US firms who are near a rating upgrade (downgrade) are more likely to inflate their earnings as compared to firms that are not near a rating upgrade (downgrade). This research focuses on whether managers from European firms manage their earnings to achieve a different credit rating. The effect of earnings management should be more visible when firms are

more likely to manage their earnings and are thus near a rating upgrade (downgrade), which leads to the following hypothesis:

H1: Firms being near a credit rating upgrade (downgrade) are more likely to engage in earnings management by reporting greater discretionary accruals

Another way in which a firm can inflate their reported earnings is by reporting less conservative. Conservatism is defined as "anticipate no profit, but anticipate all losses" (Bliss, 1924) and "the accountant's tendency to require a higher degree of verification to recognize good news as gains than to recognize bad news as losses" (Basu, 1997). It is considered as recognizing losses as soon as they are anticipated and recognize gains only when they are realized. Firms can utilize this and inflate their reported earnings, by not recognizing economic losses in a timely manner. This leads to the following hypothesis:

# H2: Firms being near a credit rating upgrade (downgrade) inflate earnings by reporting less conservative

In this research I make a distinction between "Broad ratings" and "Micro ratings". Where a broad rating change means an upgrade from, for example, BBB+ to an A rating or higher, and a downgrade is from BBB- to BB+ or lower. However, a strong BBB- firm might not be near an downgrade and a weak BBB+ firm might not be near an upgrade. Looking only at broad ratings also implicitly assumes that managers care only about a change from one broad rating to another and care less about a change within a broad rating. As in Kisgen (2006), I assume that firms might be concerned with a change in rating of any kind.

# H3: The effect of earnings management to influence credit ratings is equal for broad ratings and micro ratings

After the financial crisis of 2007 a lot of critique emerged about the role of credit rating agencies. Some argued that they did not anticipate the financial crisis, while others questioned the mathematical models of the agencies. During the Eurozone crisis those credit agencies also overruled signals from the Eurozone countries, which contributed to the depth of the recession (Grene, 2014). This led to a loss in the credibility of credit ratings in general. The EU as a response to the failure of credit rating agencies adopted a new Credit Rating Agency Regulation,

which induced additional transparency rules, in December 2010. Based on the critique of credit rating agencies, I expect that managers put less emphasis on their credit rating after the financial crisis. This, in combination with the new credit rating agency regulation, leads to the following hypothesis:

H4: The effect of earnings management to influence credit ratings is smaller after the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation

## 4. Methodology

In this section the data and the data sources are discussed. Secondly the variables are defined. Subsequently, the statistical tests are described and the econometric model is presented.

#### 4.1 Data

The primary source of data collection are credit rating changes provided by Bloomberg. The firm-specific information, which completes the financial data with balance-, income- and cash flow statement items, is collected from Compustat, since the Bloomberg database does not provide that information. Firm data needed to measure the market value of equity is obtained from Datastream. The sample consists of 599 firms over the period 1996-2016 in eighteen different countries, namely Belgium, Switzerland, Germany, Denmark, Spain, Finland, France, Great-Britain, Greece, Italy, Luxemburg, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Romania, Russia, Slovenia and Sweden.

#### 4.2 Measuring Credit Ratings

The credit ratings that are used are long-term issue ratings obtained from Bloomberg. Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch credit ratings are utilized in this study because, according to Darbellay and Partnoy (2012), these rating agencies are the three leading rating agencies which are responsible for 98 percent of all outstanding ratings and earn 90 percent of the total rating revenue. Using all three rating agencies increases the probability that the largest part of the market will be captured.

This research will look at credit rating upgrades and downgrades. In order to facilitate empirical analysis a dummy variable is created which equals one if the rating has a plus or minus notch rating and a dummy where the credit rating has either a plus or minus notch rating. These dummies focus both on "broad ratings", as well as "micro ratings". Broad ratings are ratings levels that include the minus, middle, and plus specification for a rating. For example, when a firm has a broad rating of AA, it refers to the rating levels of AA-, AA, and AA+. When a firm has either a "+" or "-" signal it can be considered as being near a broad rating change. However, it is possible that firms with an AA- rating are strong enough to not be near a broad rating downgrade. Likewise, it is possible that an AA+ rating is too weak to be near an upgrade. For

these instances micro ratings come into place. These ratings are specific ratings that include a plus or minus modification. So a micro rating of AA refers only to firms with an AA rating and shows whether those firms are able to obtain an AA+ or an AA- rating.

Table 1 reports the distribution of the credit ratings in the sample. Each rating is assigned to a value to increase the comparability between the three credit rating agencies, where 1 is the score for a 'AAA' rating and a lower number means a lower credit rating. A value of zero is assigned when a rating is not available, not rated or has been withdrawn. The distribution of the values can be found in appendix 2. The distribution is similar as in Ali and Zhang (2008). There are few extreme high and extreme low rating categories (values of one till 4 or 17 and below). The sample differs between models because of the different data requirements.

	All Firms	0	1	2	3	4
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt Offerings	8512	1248	62	131	253	517
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings	8430	1221	62	131	249	515
		5	6	7	8	9
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt Offerings		598	779	963	957	729
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings		598	776	956	948	727
		10	11	12	13	14
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt Offerings		605	324	294	277	263
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings		601	323	293	273	255
		15	16	17 or Higher		
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt Offerings		183	139	190		
Number of Credit Ratings Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings	-	177	135	190		

 Table 1: Sample Distribution by Credit Rating Categories as in Appendice 1

#### 4.3 Measuring Earnings Management

This section displays the methodology that is used to measure earnings management. The first measurement that is considered as a measure of earnings inflation is discretionary accruals. For this, the modified-Jones model (Jones, 1991) will be used, which is also implemented by Alissa et al. (Alissa, Bonsall, Koharki, & Penn, 2013). It relies on estimating non-discretionary accruals (NDA) of a company which they gain from running the business and are thus independent of managerial control (Teoh, Welch, & Wong, 1998b). This model describes the expected level of accruals given firm fundamentals. First total accruals (TA) are measured as following:

$$TA_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 \left(\frac{1}{Assets_{it-1}}\right) + \alpha_2 (\Delta REV - \Delta REC)_{it} + \alpha_3 PPE_{it} + \epsilon_{it}$$
 Eq. 1a

Discretionary accruals (DA) are used as a proxy to determine the extent of earnings management. These accruals are obtained by subtracting the non-discretionary accruals form total accruals. Non-discretionary accruals are estimated during the event period as:

$$NDA_{it} = \alpha_1 \left(\frac{1}{Assets_{it-1}}\right) + \alpha_2 (\Delta REV - \Delta REC)_{it} + \alpha_3 PPE_{it}$$
 Eq. 1b

Where  $Assets_{it-1}$  are the total assets of firm i at t-1.  $\Delta REV_{it}$  is the change in revenues of firm i in year t, measured as revenues in year t minus revenues in year t-1 scaled by total assets at t-1.  $\Delta REC_{it}$  is the change in receivables, measured as net receivables of firm i in year t minus net receivables in year t-1 scaled by total assets at t-1.  $PPE_{it}$  is property, plant and equipment of firm i in year t scaled by total assets at t-1.  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$  are firm-specific parameters estimated in the modified-Jones model. Discretionary accruals can then be measured as follows:

$$DA_{it} = TA_{it} - NDA_{it}$$
 Eq. 1c

#### 4.4 Measuring accounting conservatism

Accounting conservatism, as explained by Basu (1997), is the tendency to require a higher degree of verification to recognize good news as a gain than to recognize bad news as a loss. This measure of conservatism captures the differential timeliness in the recognition of economic gains and losses in reported earnings (Ali & Zhang, 2008). When firms have more incentive to inflate their earnings it is expected that they are less willing to recognizing economic losses in a timely manner. Because of this the reported earnings likely exhibit less differential timeliness in the recognition of economic gains and losses. The model of Basu (1997) is as follows:

$$X_i = \beta_1 + \beta_2 D_i + \beta_3 R_i + \beta_4 D_i R_i + \epsilon_i$$
 Eq. 2

Where X are a firm's earnings, R is returns and D is a dummy variable that is 1 if the returns are negative, and 0 otherwise.  $\epsilon$  is the residual error.  $\beta_4$  is the coefficient that shows whether a company is conservative. When a company is more conservative this coefficient is higher. This also shows that earnings are more sensitive for bad news than for good news.

The model of Ball and Shivakumar (2005) will also be used to estimate conservatism. This model argues that the differential timeliness of recognition of economic gains and losses imply that there is a negative correlation between current and future changes in net income. This effect is expected to be greater for firms with a negative change in earnings compared to firms with a positive change.

#### 4.5 Statistical tests

To examine if the discretionary accruals are greater when firms are near a credit rating upgrade or downgrade, the method of Ali and Zhang (2008) is used and the following models are estimated:

$$\begin{aligned} DA_{it} &= \alpha_0 + \beta_1 CR\_POM_{it} + \alpha_1 LNSIZE_{it} + \alpha_2 MTB_{it} + \alpha_3 LIT_{it} + \alpha_4 LEV_{it} + \alpha_5 ROA_{it} + \\ \alpha_6 LOSS_{it} + \alpha_7 MA_{it} + \alpha_8 LTACC_{it} + \alpha_9 CFO_{it} + \alpha_{10} FIN_{it} + year indicators \end{aligned} \qquad \mathbf{Eq. 3a} \\ DA_{it} &= \alpha_0 + \gamma_1 CR\_PLUS_{it} + \gamma_2 CR\_MINUS_{it} + \alpha_1 LNSIZE_{it} + \alpha_2 MTB_{it} + \alpha_3 LIT_{it} + \\ \alpha_4 LEV_{it} + \alpha_5 ROA_{it} + \alpha_6 LOSS_{it} + \alpha_7 MA_{it} + \alpha_8 LTACC_{it} + \alpha_9 CFO_{it} + \alpha_{10} FIN_{it} + \\ year indicators \end{aligned} \qquad \mathbf{Eq. 3b}$$

CR\_POM is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has either a plus or minus specification in its rating and zero otherwise. CR\_PLUS and CR\_MINUS are also indicator variables that equal one if a firm has a plus or minus rating, respectively, and zero otherwise.  $LNSIZE_{it}$  is the log of the market value of equity of firm i in year t.  $MTB_{it}$  is calculated as the market value of equity divided by its book value at the end of year t. LIT<sub>it</sub> is a dummy variable that equals one if a firm operates in a high-litigation industry (SIC-codes of 2833-2836, 3570-3577, 3600-3674, 5200-5961, and 7370).  $LEV_{it}$  is measured as total debt divided by total assets at the end of year t. ROA<sub>it</sub> is earnings before extraordinary items divided by total assets. LOSS<sub>it</sub> is another indicator variable that equals one if the firm reports a net loss, and zero otherwise. MAit is an indicator variable that equals one if the firm engaged in a merger and acquisition, and zero otherwise. LTACCit is measured as last year's total accruals scaled by the beginning of year's total assets.  $CFO_{it}$  is a variable that shows the cash flow from operations scaled by the beginning of year total assets.  $FIN_{it}$  is an indicator variable that equals one if  $MA_{it}$  equals zero and number of outstanding shares increased by at least 10%, or long-term debt increased by at least 20%. Contrary to Ali and Zhang (2008) INST<sub>it</sub> is not used, due to a lack of data from the databases used in this research.

In order to measure conservatism in reported earnings the method of Ali and Zhang (2008), which implements the Basu model (1997), will be used. This method allows conservatism in reported earnings to vary by whether firms are near a rating change and also allows earnings to vary with firm characteristics. Like Ali and Zhang (2008), I focus on the market-to-book ratio, leverage, firm size and litigation risk, since prior research has shown that conservatism in reported earnings varies most with these variables. This leads to the following regressions:

$$\begin{split} NI_{it} &= \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 D_{it} + \alpha_2 RET_{it} + \alpha_3 RET_{it} D_{it} + \beta_1 CR\_POM_{it} + \beta_2 CR\_POM_{it} D_{it} + \beta_3 CR\_POM_{it} RET_{it} + \beta_4 CR\_POM_{it} RET_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_4 MTB_{it} + \alpha_5 MTB_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_6 MTB_{it} RET_{it} + \alpha_7 MTB_{it} RET_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_9 LEV_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_{10} LEV_{it} RET_{it} + \alpha_{11} LEV_{it} RET_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_{12} LNSIZE_{it} + \alpha_{13} LNSIZE_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_{14} LNSIZE_{it} RET_{it} + \alpha_{15} LNSIZE_{it} RET_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_{16} LIT_{it} + \alpha_{17} LIT_{it} D_{it} + \alpha_{18} LIT_{it} RET_{it} + \alpha_{19} LIT_{it} RET_{it} D_{it} & \mathbf{Eq. 4a} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} NI_{it} &= \alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}D_{it} + \alpha_{2}RET_{it} + \alpha_{3}RET_{it}D_{it} + \gamma_{1}CR\_PLUS_{it} + \gamma_{2}CR\_PLUS_{it}D_{it} + \\ \gamma_{3}CR\_PLUS_{it}RET_{it} + \gamma_{4}CR\_PLUS_{it}RET_{it}D_{it} + \gamma_{5}CR\_MINUS_{it} + \gamma_{6}CR\_MINUS_{it}D_{it} + \\ \gamma_{7}CR\_MINUS_{it}RET_{it} + \gamma_{8}CR\_MINUS_{it}RET_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{4}MTB_{it} + \alpha_{5}MTB_{it}D_{it} + \\ \alpha_{6}MTB_{it}RET_{it} + \alpha_{7}MTB_{it}RET_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{8}LEV_{it} + \alpha_{9}LEV_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{10}LEV_{it}RET_{it} + \\ \alpha_{11}LEV_{it}RET_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{12}LNSIZE_{it} + \alpha_{13}LNSIZE_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{14}LNSIZE_{it}RET_{it} + \\ \alpha_{15}LNSIZE_{it}RET_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{16}LIT_{it} + \alpha_{17}LIT_{it}D_{it} + \alpha_{18}LIT_{it}RET_{it} + \alpha_{19}LIT_{it}RET_{it}D_{it} & \mathbf{Eq. 4b} \end{split}$$

Where  $NI_{it}$  is year t net income before extraordinary items scaled by the beginning of fiscal year t market value of equity.  $RET_{it}$  is a firm's annual return in year t and  $D_{it}$  is a indicator variable that equals 1 if a firm's annual return is negative and 0 otherwise. All other variables are as defined earlier.

Next to the basu model, the model of Ball and Shivakumar (2005) is also estimated. They suggest the following model, which is modified like in Ali and Zhang (2008) to allow conservatism in reported earnings to differ across firms that are near a rating change compared to firms that are not near a rating change.

 $\Delta NI_{it+1} =$ 

 $\begin{aligned} &\alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}D\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{2}\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{3}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \beta_{1}CR\_POM_{it} + \beta_{2}CR\_POM_{it}D\Delta NI_{it} + \\ &\beta_{3}CR\_POM_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \beta_{4}CR\_POM_{it}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{4}SIZE_{it} + \alpha_{5}SIZE_{it}D\Delta NI_{it} + \\ &\alpha_{6}SIZE_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{7}SIZE_{it}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \epsilon_{it} \end{aligned}$ 

 $\Delta NI_{it+1} =$ 

$$\begin{split} &\alpha_{0} + \alpha_{1}D\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{2}\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{3}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \gamma_{1}CR\_PLUS_{it} + \gamma_{2}CR\_PLUS_{it}D\Delta NI_{it} + \\ &\gamma_{3}CR\_PLUS_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \gamma_{4}CR\_PLUS_{it}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \gamma_{5}CR\_MINUS_{it} + \gamma_{6}CR\_MINUS_{it}D\Delta NI_{it} + \\ &\gamma_{7}CR\_MINUS_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \gamma_{8}CR\_MINUS_{it}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{4}SIZE_{it} + \alpha_{5}SIZE_{it}D\Delta NI_{it} + \\ &\alpha_{6}SIZE_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \alpha_{7}SIZE_{it}D\Delta NI_{it}\Delta NI_{it} + \epsilon_{it} \\ \end{split}$$

Where,  $\Delta NI_{it}$  is the change in net income before extraordinary items from year t-1 to year t scaled by total assets at the beginning of the year.  $D\Delta NI_{it}$  is an indicator variable that equals one if  $\Delta NI_{it}$  is negative and zero otherwise.  $SIZE_{it}$  is the rank of total assets at the end of year t standardized to vary between zero and one.

As in Kisgen (2006) and Ali and Zhang (2008), firms with large debt offerings or large equity offerings are excluded from the sample firm, because these can affect credit ratings, where large debt (equity) offerings may result in a rating downgrade (upgrade) for firms that are near, as well as firms that are not near, a rating downgrade (upgrade). I follow prior research and define debt offering as long-term debt issuance scaled by the beginning of year total assets, and equity offering is defined as sale of common and preferred stock scaled by the beginning of total year assets. A debt or equity offering is considered large if it is greater than 10%.

## 5. Results

In this section the results will be presented. First the effect of credit rating change on discretionary accruals will be examined. Thereafter the effect of credit rating change on conservatism in reported earnings will be examined, where the Basu model will be discussed first and subsequently the Ball and Shivakumar model is discussed.

#### 5.1 Discretionary accruals

For the calculation of the discretionary accruals the Modified-Jones model is used. This model describes the expected level of accruals given firm fundamentals and is estimated for every industry group with at least 20 firms in a given year. The industry groups are defined by 2-digit SIC codes. A large number of regressions is estimated for industry-year groups to calculate discretionary accruals. The residuals of equation 1a are used as a measure of discretionary accruals. When firms are near a broad rating change they can inflate their earnings by reporting more discretionary accruals. Therefore it is expected that coefficient  $\beta_1$  in equation 3a and coefficients  $\gamma_1$  and  $\gamma_2$  from equation 3b are positive.

Table 2 reports the regression results of equations 3a and 3b. In order to control for the effect of time-series correlation in the regression residuals, the regression is estimated using the Huber-White procedure with clustering by firm, as in accordance to Ali and Zhang (2008). For the sample that excludes large debt offerings, the coefficient CR\_POM is not statistically significant. However the coefficient on CR\_MINUS, in the same sample, is 0.00376 (t=2.03), indicating that firms near a broad rating downgrade report greater discretionary accruals than firms not near a broad rating downgrade. In accordence with Kisgen (2006) the results for the sample that excludes both large debt and equity offerings are also estimated. When both large debt and equity offerings are excluded the effect for broad rating downgrades remains equal, but the coefficient on CR\_POM also becomes significant (0.00345 | t=2.02), which indicates that firms near a broad rating change in general report greater discretionary accruals than firms not near a broad rating change in general report greater discretionary accruals than firms near a broad rating change in general report greater discretionary accruals than firms not near a broad rating change in general report greater discretionary accruals than firms not near a broad rating change in general report greater discretionary accruals than firms not near a broad rating change are accelited for firms near a credit rating downgrade. Indicating that firms being near a credit rating downgrade are more likely to engage in earnings management by reporting greater discretionary accruals.

		Excludi	ng Large	e Debt Offering	s	Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings					
	Expected	Eq. 3a		Eq. 3b	)	Eq. 3a		Eq. 3b			
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat		
Constant		-0.0599***	-2.91	-0.0599***	-2.92	-0.0582***	-2.80	-0.0582***	-2.80		
CR_POM	+	0.00328*	1.95			0.00345**	2.02				
CR_PLUS	+			0.00278	1.16			0.00300	1.22		
CR_MINUS	+			0.00376**	2.03			0.00389**	2.11		
LNSIZE		0.00104	1.05	0.00104	1.05	0.00103	1.05	0.00103	1.04		
MTB		-5.61e-08	-0.13	-5.41e-08	-0.12	-1.01e-07	-0.23	-9.93e-08	-0.22		
LIT		0.00282	0.88	0.00283	0.88	0.00259	0.84	0.00260	0.84		
LEV		-0.0259**	-2.52	-0.0260**	-2.52	-0.0239**	-2.32	-0.0240**	-2.33		
ROA		0.0772	1.32	0.0776	1.32	0.0750	1.28	0.0753	1.28		
LOSS		-0.000607	-0.19	-0.000641	-0.20	-0.000433	-0.13	-0.000460	-0.14		
MA		0.000567	0.21	0.000572	0.21	0.000371	0.14	0.000368	0.14		
LTACC		0.000280***	5.73	0.000283***	5.80	0.000293***	5.81	0.000295***	5.86		
CFO		-0.384***	-13.54	-0.384***	-13.56	-0.380***	-12.66	-0.380***	-12.68		
FIN		-0.000147	-0.06	-0.000121	-0.05	-6.70e-05	-0.03	-4.67e-05	-0.02		
Observations		1,312		1,312	1,312			1,277			
R-squared		0.423		0.423	0.423			0.420			
Year Indicators		Include	d	Include	d	Included	t	Included			

Table 2: Proximity to Broad Rating Change and Discretionary Accruals:	
Discretionary Accruals Estimated by Using the Ball and Shiyakumar Model (Equation 3	3)

The model is estimated using the Huber-White procedure and clustering by firms. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows:

The dependent variable **DA** is discretionary accruals. **CR\_POM** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating and zero otherwise. **CR\_PLUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating and zero otherwise. **CR\_MINUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating and zero otherwise. **LNSIZE** is the log of the market value of equity. **MTB** is the market-to-book-ratio of a firm. **LIT** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating and zero otherwise. **LNSIZE** is the log of the market value of equity. **MTB** is the market-to-book-ratio of a firm. **LIT** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm is in a high litigation industry (SIC code of 2833-2836, 3570-3577, 3600-

3674, 5200-5961 and 7370). **LEV** is total debt divided by total assets. **ROA** is measured as earnings before extraordinary items divided by total assets at the end of the fiscal year. **LOSS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm reports a net loss. **MA** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has engaged in a merger and acquisition, and zero otherwise. **LTACC** is last year's total accruals scaled by beginning of the year's total assets. **CFO** is measured as cash flow from operations scaled by beginning of year total assets. **FIN** is an indicator variable that equals one if MA is not equal to one, and the number of outstanding shares increase by at least 10%, or long-term debt increased by at least 20%.

Unlike Ali and Zhang (2008), I also estimate the regression results for equations 3a and 3b when looking at micro rating indicators instead of broad rating indicators. The regressions in table 3 are also estimated using the Huber-White procedure with clustering by firm. There are no significant results for both the sample that excludes large debt offerings and the sample that excludes large debt and equity offerings. Therefore hypothesis 3 can not be accepted. There is

thus no support that discretionary accruals are greater for firms near a micro rating change than for firms not near a micro rating change. This could be because firms put less emphasis on micro rating changes, since there is a smaller effect on the borrowing costs compared to a change in broad rating change. In these cases the lower borrowing costs are surpassed by the costs of earnings management.

		Excludi	ing Large	e Debt Offering	s	Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings				
	Expected	Eq. 3a		Eq. 3b	1			Expecte	d	
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	Coefficient t-stat		t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	VARIABLES	t-stat	
Constant		-0.0619***	-2.98	-0.0619***	-2.98	-0.0604***	-2.86	-0.0604***	-2.86	
CR_POM (micro)		-0.000214	-0.16			-0.000372	-0.28			
CR_PLUS (micro)				0.000873	0.31			0.000529	0.18	
CR_MINUS (micro)				-0.000414	-0.27			-0.000533	-0.34	
LNSIZE		0.00115	1.15	0.00115	1.15	0.00115	1.15	0.00115	1.15	
MTB		-6.11e-08 -0.14		-6.54e-08	-0.15	-1.06e-07	-0.24	-1.09e-07	-0.25	
LIT		0.00302 0.94		0.00300	0.93	0.00282	0.91	0.00281	0.91	
LEV		-0.0249**	-2.42	-0.0249**	-2.42	-0.0227**	-2.21	-0.0227**	-2.21	
ROA		0.0779	1.31	0.0769	1.29	0.0762	1.27	0.0754	1.26	
LOSS		-0.000361	-0.11	-0.000385	-0.12	-0.000143	-0.04	-0.000159	-0.05	
MA		0.000732	0.27	0.000764	0.28	0.000556	0.20	0.000579	0.21	
LTACC		0.000266***	5.50	0.000266***	5.51	0.000278***	5.56	0.000278***	5.57	
CFO		-0.384***	-13.49	-0.384***	-13.47	-0.380***	-12.61	-0.380***	-12.58	
FIN		-3.24e-05	-0.01	1.31e-05	0.01	4.60e-05	0.02	7.93e-05	0.03	
Observations		1,312		1,312		1,277		1,277		
R-squared		0.421		0.421		0.417		0.417		
Year Indicators		Include	d	Include	d	Included	d	Included		

Table 3: Proximity to Micro Rating Change and Discretionary Accruals:
Discretionary Accruals Estimated by Using the Ball and Shivakumar Model (Equation 3)

The model is estimated using the Huber-White procedure and clustering by firms. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows:

The dependent variable DA is discretionary accruals. CR\_POM is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_PLUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_MINUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_MINUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_MINUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. LNSIZE is the log of the market value of equity. MTB is the market-to-book-ratio of a firm. LIT is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm is in a high litigation industry (SIC code of 2833-2836, 3570-3577, 3600-3674, 5200-5961 and 7370). LEV is total debt divided by total assets. ROA is measured as earnings before extraordinary items divided by total assets at the end of the fiscal year. LOSS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm reports a net loss. MA is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has engaged in a merger and acquisition, and zero otherwise. LTACC is last year's total accruals scaled by beginning of the year's total assets. CFO is measured as cash flow from operations scaled by beginning of year total assets. FIN is an indicator variable that equals one if MA is not equal to one, and the number of outstanding shares increase by at least 10%, or long-term debt increased by at least 20%.

Concluding, discretionary accruals are greater for firms that are near a broad credit rating change than for firms that are not near a broad credit rating change. This effect also occurs when firms are near a broad credit rating downgrade, but there is no support for greater discretionary accruals for firms that are near a broad credit rating upgrade. Concluding on these results, managers seem to engage more in earnings management when they are near a rating downgrade and face a potential extra cost, but they do not seem to persue a cost reduction by obtaining a higher rating. Based on these conclusions there is not enough evidence to completely confirm hypothesis 1, allthough there is an effect of accrual-based earnings management for firms near a broad rating change. For hypothesis 3 I expected the same results as for hypothesis 1, however, there seems to be no significant relation between discretionary accruals and micro rating changes.

#### 5.2 Conservatism in reported earnings

Another way in which a firm can inflate its earnings is through reporting less conservative. The conservatism that is considered is the differential timeliness in the recognition of economic gains and losses, which can be seen as recording losses as soon as they are anticipated but only recognizing gains when they are realized. Managers have the opportunity to inflate reported earnings by not recognizing economic losses in a timely manner.

The first measure of conservatism that will be discussed is the Basu model (1997), which allows conservatism in reported earnings to vary by whether firms are near a rating change, but also allows earnings to vary with firm characteristics. In accordance with the hypotheses I expect that firms near a rating change report less conservative earnings, which can be found if coefficient  $\beta_4$  in equation 4a and coefficient  $\gamma_4$  and  $\gamma_8$  in equation 4b are negative.

Table 4 presents the Fama-MacBeth regression estimates of equations 4a and 4b. The coefficient RET x D indicates whether there is conservatism in reported earnings for firms that are not near a broad rating change. This coefficient is insignificant in all four regressions so no conclusion can be drawn whether firms not near a broad rating change are conservative in reported earnings. The variables of interest in this sample are CR\_POM x RET x D, CR\_PLUS x RET x D and CR\_MINUS x RET x D. The results in this sample give no significant evidence to conclude that there is a relation between conservatism in reported earnings and broad credit

rating changes. Hypothesis 2 could thus not be accepted based on the results of the Basu model.

In table 5 the Fama-MacBeth regressions of equitions 4a and 4b are re-estimated at a micro rating level. The coefficient RET x D is insignificant in all four regressions so again no conclusion can be drawn whether firms not near a broad rating change are conservative in reported earnings. All variables of interest are insignificant aswell, so overall there is no support to conclude that firms near a micro rating change report less conservative than firms not near a micro rating change.

Besides the Basu model, I also estimate conservatism in reported earnings using the Ball and Shivakumar model (2005), which is modified by Ali and Zhang (2008). They argue that the differential timeliness of recognizing economic gains and losses implies that there is a negative correlation between current and future changes in net income and that this correlation will be greater for firms with a negative change in earnings than for firms with a positive change in earnings. The hypothesis that firms near a rating change report less conservative earnings remains. This effect occurs when coefficient  $\beta_4$  in equation 5a and coefficient  $\gamma_4$  and  $\gamma_8$  in equation 5b are positive.

Table 6 shows the Fama-MacBeth regression results of equations 5a and 5b.When large debt offerings are excluded the coeffcient D $\Delta$ NI x  $\Delta$ NI is not statistically significant when being near a broad rating change is tested with one dumy variable and only large debt offerings are excluded. However, when being near a broad rating change is split in having either a plus or minus signal or when both large debt and large equity offerings are excluded, this variable becomes significant at the 5% level. When excluding only large debt offerings and having a dummy for both a plus or minus signal, the variable D $\Delta$ NI x  $\Delta$ NI is is -1.737 (t=-2.30) suggesting that economic losses are recognized faster than economic gains for firms not near a broad rating change. The variables of interest don't show any significant relation between conservatism in reported earnings and broad credit rating changes. Therefore hypothesis 2 can not be accepted.

When the focus is shifted from broad rating changes to micro rating changes the variables change. Table 7 shows that  $D\Delta NI \ge \Delta NI$  loses its significance in all regressions, so in this case no conclusion can be drawn that firms not near a micro rating change recognize economic losses

faster than economic gains. The variables of interest are mainly insignificant so no conclusion can be drawn on the relation between micro rating changes and conservatism in reported earnings. The variable CR\_MINUS x D $\Delta$ NI x  $\Delta$ NI is -1.177 (t=-2.02) when large debt and equity offerings are excluded. This variable is significant at the 5% level but is not in line with the expected sign, indicating that firms near a micro rating downgrade also recognize economic losses faster than economic gains.

Concluding, from both the Basu model and the Ball and Shivakumar model there is no evidence that supports hypothesis 2. Firms that are near a broad rating change don't seem to report significantly less conservative than firms that are not near a broad rating change. There is also no effect of less conservatism for firms that are near a micro credit rating change, which in the case of conservatism also gives no support for hypothesis 3. This effect could be due to the mandatory adoption of IFRS in 2005 (ICAEW, 2015), since prior research shows that IFRS firms have more persistent, less predictable and more conditionally conservative earnings (Gassen & Sellhorn, 2006).

					L05565						
ExpectedEq. 4aEq. 4bEq. 4aCoefficientt-statCoeffic		and Equity O	fferings								
VARIABLES         sign         Coefficient         t-stat         Coefficient<		Expected	Eq. 4a	L	Eq. 4b		Eq. 4a		Eq. 4t	,	
Constant         0.0158         0.36         0.0148         0.33         0.0202         0.43         0.0192         0.40           D $-0.479$ $-1.40$ $-0.118$ $-1.05$ $-0.498$ $-1.4$ $-0.123$ $-1.05$ RET         0.000132 $1.21$ 0.000114 $1.20$ 0.000135 $1.2$ 0.000117 $1.19$ RET x D $-0.00183$ $-0.35$ $-0.00189$ $-0.36$ $-0.00224$ $-0.35$ CR_POM x D $-0.0449$ $-1.15$ $-0.0466$ $-1.15$ $-0.313$ $-1.43$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_POM x RET x D $ 2.41e-06$ $0.06$ $-2.77e-06$ $-0.07$ $-0.313$ $-1.43$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_PLUS x D $ -0.000983^*$ $-1.71$ $-0.00018^*$ $-0.71$ $-0.00018^*$ $-0.71$ CR_MINUS x D $ -0.000811$ $-0.35$ $-2.39e-07$ $-0.44$ $-0.00118$ $-0.44$ MTB x D $-0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.9e-05$ $-0$	VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Comptant		0.0159	0.26	0.0149	0.22	0.0202	0.42	0.0102	0.40	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	D		0.0138	1.40	0.0148	0.55	0.0202	0.45	0.0192	0.40	
RET x $0.000132$ $1.21$ $0.000114$ $1.20$ $0.000131$ $0.120$ $0.000117$ $1.19$ CR_POM $0.000133$ $0.23$ $-9.33e-05$ $-0.05$ CR_POM xD $-0.0449$ $-1.15$ $-0.0466$ $-1.15$ $-0.0466$ $-1.15$ CR_POM xRET $6.42e-06$ $1.10$ $7.34e-06$ $1.18$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_POM xRET $6.42e-06$ $1.10$ $7.34e-06$ $1.18$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_POLVS xD $-0.313$ $-1.43$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_PLUS x RET $9.77e-06$ $1.11$ $1.41e-05$ $1.11$ CR_MINUS x RET xD $ -0.000983^*$ $-1.71$ $-0.00012^*$ $-1.71$ CR_MINUS x RET xD $ 0.000611$ $-0.35$ $-0.00613$ $0.35$ CR_MINUS x RET xD $ 0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $2.01e-05$ $0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $2.01e-05$ $0.41$ $0.000$ $0.75$ $0.21e-05$ $0.41$ $0.000$	DET		-0.479	-1.40	-0.118	-1.05	-0.498	-1.4	-0.125	-1.05	
RE1 XD       -0.00135       -0.30       -0.00216       -0.35       -0.00199       -0.36       -0.00224       -0.35         CR_POM       0.000353       0.23       -9.33e-05       -0.05         CR_POM x D       -0.0449       -1.15       -0.0466       -1.15         CR_POM x RET       6.42e-06       1.10       7.34e-06       1.18         CR_PUUS x D       -       2.41e-06       0.06       -2.77e-06       -0.07         CR_PUUS x D       -       -0.0133       -1.43       -0.325       -1.43         CR_PUUS x RET       9.77e-06       1.11       1.41e-05       1.11         CR_MINUS x RET       -0.000939       -0.24       -0.00102*       -1.71         CR_MINUS x RET       7.99e-06       1.33       9.00e-06       1.40         CR_MINUS x RET       7.99e-06       1.33       9.00e-06       1.40         CR_MINUS x RET       0.000147       1.22       -1.90e-05       -0.40       0.000912       1.22       -2.01e-05       -0.41         MTB x D       0.000147       1.22       -1.90e-05       -0.40       0.00130       -0.83       -0.0093       -0.73         LEV x D       0.136       0.29       -0.100       -0.42	KEI DET D		0.000152	1.21	0.000114	1.20	0.000133	1.2	0.000117	1.19	
$\begin{array}{c cc} CR_POM x D & 0.000535 & 0.25 & -9.355 & -0.05 \\ \hline CR_POM x D & -0.0449 & -1.15 & -0.0466 & -1.15 \\ CR_POM x RET & 6.42e-06 & 1.10 & 7.34e-06 & 1.18 \\ CR_POM x RET x D & - 2.41e-06 & 0.06 & -2.77e-06 & -0.07 \\ \hline CR_PLUS x D & -0.0133 & -1.43 & -0.325 & -1.43 \\ CR_PLUS x RET & 9.77e-06 & 1.11 & 1.41e-05 & 1.11 \\ CR_PLUS x RET x D & - 0.000983* & -1.71 & -0.00102* & 1.71 \\ CR_MINUS x D & -0.000599 & -0.24 & -0.00118 & -0.44 \\ CR_MINUS x D & -0.00611 & -0.35 & -0.00638 & -0.35 \\ CR_MINUS x RET & 7.99e-06 & 1.33 & 9.00e-06 & 1.40 \\ CR_MINUS x RET & 7.99e-06 & 1.33 & 9.00e-06 & 1.40 \\ CR_MINUS x RET & 7.99e-06 & 1.33 & 9.00e-06 & 1.40 \\ MTB x D & 0.000147 & 1.22 & -1.90e-05 & -0.40 & 0.000152 & 1.22 & -2.01e-05 & -0.41 \\ MTB x RET & 9.01e-09 & 1.65 & 9.33e-09 & 1.63 & 9.49e-09 & 1.66 & 9.75e-09 & 1.64 \\ MTB x RET x D & 1.35e-07 & 0.13 & -1.23e-06* & -1.85 & 7.55e-08 & 0.07 & -1.33e-06* & -1.87 \\ LEV & -0.0132 & -0.88 & -0.0046 & -0.81 & -0.0130 & -0.83 & -0.0093 & -0.73 \\ LEV x D & 0.136 & 0.29 & -0.100 & -0.42 & 0.141 & 0.29 & -0.104 & -0.42 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.85 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.85 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.85 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.85 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.35 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.35 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e-05 & 0.89 & 1.80e-05 & 0.82 & 2.55e-05 & 0.35 & 1.75e-05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 0.000132 & 0.49 & 0.00196 & 1.27 & 0.00137 & 0.48 & 0.00204 & 1.28 \\ LNSIZE x RET & -8.36e-06 & -1.18 & 7.18e-06 & -1.17 & -8.57e-06 & -1.16 & -7.38e-06 & -1.16 \\ LNSIZE x RET & -8.36e-06 & -1.18 & 7.718e-06 & -1.16 & -7.38e-06 & -1.16 \\ LNSIZE x RET & 0.000199 & 1.03 & 0.000212 & 1.03 & 0.000346 & -0.53 & -0.00239 & -0.93 \\ LT x RET x D & -0.00474 & -0.77 & -0.003707 & -0.83 & $	KEI X D		-0.00183	-0.30	-0.00216	-0.35	-0.00189	-0.30	-0.00224	-0.35	
$\begin{array}{c cc} CR_POM x D & -0.0449 & -1.15 & -0.0466 & -1.15 \\ CR_POM x RET & 6.42e \cdot 06 & 1.10 & 7.34e \cdot 06 & 1.18 \\ CR_POM x RET x D & - 2.41e \cdot 06 & 0.06 & -2.77e \cdot 06 & -0.07 \\ CR_PLUS x D & -0.313 & -1.43 & -0.325 & -1.43 \\ CR_PLUS x RET & 9.77e \cdot 06 & 1.11 & 1.41e \cdot 05 & 1.11 \\ CR_PLUS x RET & -0.000983^* & -1.71 & -0.00102^* & -1.71 \\ CR_MINUS & D & -0.000983^* & -1.71 & -0.00102^* & -1.71 \\ CR_MINUS x D & -0.000599 & -0.24 & -0.00118 & -0.44 \\ CR_MINUS x RET & 7.99e \cdot 06 & 1.33 & 9.00e \cdot 06 & 1.40 \\ CR_MINUS x RET & -0.000117 & -0.58 & -2.51e \cdot 07 & -0.70 & -1.84e \cdot 07 & -0.53 & -2.39e \cdot 07 & -0.64 \\ MTB x D & 0.000147 & 1.22 & -1.90e \cdot 05 & -0.40 & 0.000152 & 1.22 & -2.01e \cdot 05 & -0.41 \\ MTB x RET & 9.01e \cdot 09 & 1.65 & 9.33e \cdot 09 & 1.63 & 9.49e \cdot 09 & 1.66 & 9.75e \cdot 09 & 1.64 \\ MTB x RET & 9.01e \cdot 09 & 1.65 & 9.33e \cdot 09 & 1.63 & 9.49e \cdot 09 & 1.66 & 9.75e \cdot 09 & 1.64 \\ MTB x RET x D & 1.35e \cdot 07 & 0.13 & -1.23e \cdot 06^* & -1.85 & 7.55e \cdot 08 & 0.07 & -1.33e \cdot 06^* & -1.87 \\ LEV x D & 0.136 & 0.29 & -0.100 & -0.42 & 0.141 & 0.29 & -0.104 & -0.42 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e \cdot 05 & 0.89 & 1.80e \cdot 05 & 0.82 & 2.55e \cdot 05 & 0.85 & 1.75e \cdot 05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e \cdot 06 & 0.89 & 1.80e \cdot 05 & 0.82 & 2.55e \cdot 05 & 0.85 & 1.75e \cdot 05 & 0.76 \\ LEV x RET & 2.55e \cdot 06 & -1.18 & -7.18e \cdot 06 & -1.16 & -7.38e \cdot 06 & -1.16 \\ LNSIZE x RET & -8.36e \cdot 06 & -1.18 & -7.18e \cdot 06 & -1.17 & -8.57e \cdot 06 & -1.16 & -7.38e \cdot 06 & -1.16 \\ LNSIZE x RET & -8.36e \cdot 06 & -1.18 & -7.18e \cdot 06 & -1.17 & -8.57e \cdot 06 & -1.16 & -7.38e \cdot 06 & -1.16 \\ LNSIZE x RET & -8.36e \cdot 06 & -1.18 & -7.18e \cdot 06 & -1.17 & -8.57e \cdot 06 & -1.16 & -7.38e \cdot 06 & -1.16 \\ LNSIZE x RET & 0.000199 & 1.03 & 0.000212 & 1.03 & 0.000346 & -0.53 & -0.00728 & -0.83 \\ LT x RET x D & -0.000190 & -0.23 & -0.00645 & -1.05 & -0.000211 & -0.25 & -0.000680 & -1.07 \\ Observations & 3.199 & 3.199 & 3.140 & 3.140 \\ R-squard & 0.824 & 0.847 & 0.828 & 0.847 \\ Durba of forware & 55 & 55 & 55 & 55 & 55 & 55 & 55 & $	CR_POM		0.000353	0.23			-9.33e-05	-0.05			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	CR_POM x D		-0.0449	-1.15			-0.0466	-1.15			
CR_POM x RET x D       -       2.41e-06       0.00 $-2.7/e-06$ $-0.07/$ CR_PLUS x D       -       0.00169       0.70       0.000913       0.31         CR_PLUS x D       -       -0.313       -1.43       -0.325       -1.43         CR_PLUS x RET x D       -       -0.000983*       -1.71       -0.00102*       -1.71         CR_MINUS x D       -       -0.000599       -0.24       -0.00118       -0.44         CR_MINUS x RET x D       -       0.000811       -0.33       9.00e-06       1.40         CR_MINUS x RET x D       -       0.000811       1.54       0.000901       1.53         MTB x D       0.000147       1.22       -1.90e-05       -0.40       0.000152       1.22       -2.01e-05       -0.41         MTB x RET x D       -       0.0147       1.22       -1.90e-05       -0.40       0.000152       1.22       -2.01e-05       -0.41         MTB x RET x D       0.0132       -0.88       -0.00946       -0.81       -0.0130       -0.83       -0.0003       -0.33       -0.007       -1.33e-06*       -1.87         LEV x D       0.136       0.29       -0.100       -0.42       0.141       0.29       -0.104	CR_POM x RET		6.42e-06	1.10			/.34e-06	1.18			
CR_PLUS $0.00169$ $0.70$ $0.000913$ $0.31$ CR_PLUS x D $-0.313$ $-1.43$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_PLUS x RET $9.77e-06$ $1.11$ $1.41e-05$ $1.11$ CR_MINUS x RET x D $ -0.000983$ $-1.71$ $-0.00102$ $-1.71$ CR_MINUS x D $-0.000599$ $-0.24$ $-0.0018$ $-0.44$ CR_MINUS x RET $7.99e-06$ $1.33$ $9.00e-06$ $1.40$ CR_MINUS x RET ND $ 0.000811$ $1.54$ $0.0009011$ MTB $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ MTB x D $0.00147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06^*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06^*$ $-1.87$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.0132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.00101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET x D $0.0226$ $0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.07$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.17$ LNSIZE x RET x D $0.0226$ $0.98$ <td>CR_POM x RET x D</td> <td>-</td> <td>2.41e-06</td> <td>0.06</td> <td>0.001.00</td> <td>0 70</td> <td>-2.77e-06</td> <td>-0.07</td> <td>0.000010</td> <td>0.01</td>	CR_POM x RET x D	-	2.41e-06	0.06	0.001.00	0 70	-2.77e-06	-0.07	0.000010	0.01	
CR_PLUS x D $-0.313$ $-1.43$ $-0.325$ $-1.43$ CR_PLUS x RET9.77e-061.111.41e-051.11CR_PLUS x RET x D $-0.00093^*$ $-1.71$ $-0.00102^*$ $-1.71$ CR_MINUS x D $-0.000599$ $-0.24$ $-0.00118$ $-0.44$ CR_MINUS x D $-0.00611$ $-0.35$ $-0.00638$ $-0.35$ CR_MINUS x RET $7.99e-06$ $1.33$ $9.00e-06$ $1.40$ CR_MINUS x RET $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ CR_MINUS x RET $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ MTB x D $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ $-0.41$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06^*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06^*$ $-1.87$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.13$ $-0.0223$ $-0.0233$ $-0.723$ $-0.0233$ $-0.723$ $-0.0233$	CR_PLUS				0.00169	0.70			0.000913	0.31	
CR_PLUS x RET9.7/e-061.111.41e-051.11CR_PLUS x RET x D- $-0.00093^*$ $-1.71$ $-0.000102^*$ $-1.71$ CR_MINUS x D $-0.00611$ $-0.35$ $-0.00638$ $-0.35$ CR_MINUS x RET7.99e-06 $1.33$ $9.00e-06$ $1.40$ CR_MINUS x RET $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ $-2.39e-07$ MTB $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ $-2.39e-07$ $-0.64$ MTB x D $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ $-0.41$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06^*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06^*$ $-1.87$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET x D $0.0132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.22$ $-0.044$ $-0.0233$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.93$ $-0.0233$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.023$ $-0.0$	CR_PLUS x D				-0.313	-1.43			-0.325	-1.43	
CR_PLUS x RET x D       -       -0.000983*       -1.71       -0.00102*       -1.71         CR_MINUS       -0.000599       -0.24       -0.00118       -0.44         CR_MINUS x D       -0.000611       -0.35       -0.00638       -0.35         CR_MINUS x RET       7.99e-06       1.33       9.00e-06       1.44         CR_MINUS x RET x D       -       0.000881       1.54       0.000901       1.53         MTB       -1.94e-07       -0.58       -2.51e-07       -0.70       -1.84e-07       -0.53       -2.39e-07       -0.64         MTB x D       0.000147       1.22       -1.90e-05       -0.40       0.000152       1.22       -2.01e-05       -0.41         MTB x RET x D       1.35e-07       0.13       -1.23e-06*       -1.85       7.55e-08       0.07       -1.33e-06*       -1.87         LEV x D       0.136       0.29       -0.100       -0.42       0.141       0.29       -0.104       -0.42         LEV x RET x D       0.00132       0.49       0.00196       1.27       0.00137       0.48       0.00204       1.28         LNSIZE x D       0.0264       1.58       0.00977       0.36       0.0274       1.58       0.0110       0.86 </td <td>CR_PLUS x RET</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>9.77e-06</td> <td>1.11</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>1.41e-05</td> <td>1.11</td>	CR_PLUS x RET				9.77e-06	1.11			1.41e-05	1.11	
CR_MINUS       -0.000599       -0.24       -0.00118       -0.44         CR_MINUS x D       -0.00638       -0.35       -0.00638       -0.35         CR_MINUS x RET       7.99e-06       1.33       9.00e-06       1.40         CR_MINUS x RET x D       -       0.000881       1.54       0.000901       1.53         MTB       -1.94e-07       -0.58       -2.51e-07       -0.70       -1.84e-07       -0.53       -2.39e-07       -0.64         MTB x D       0.000147       1.22       -1.90e-05       -0.40       0.000152       1.22       -2.01e-05       -0.41         MTB x RET       9.01e-09       1.65       9.33e-09       1.63       9.49e-09       1.66       9.75e-09       1.64         MTB x RET x D       1.35e-07       0.13       -1.23e-06*       -1.85       7.55e-08       0.07       -1.33e-06*       -1.87         LEV x D       0.136       0.29       -0.100       -0.42       0.141       0.29       -0.104       -0.42         LEV x RET x D       0.00132       0.49       0.00196       1.27       0.00137       0.48       0.00204       1.28         LNSIZE x D       0.0264       1.58       0.00977       0.36       0.0274	CR_PLUS x RET x D	-			-0.000983*	-1.71			-0.00102*	-1.71	
CR_MINUS x D $-0.00611$ $-0.35$ $-0.00638$ $-0.35$ CR_MINUS x RET $7.99e-06$ $1.33$ $9.00e-06$ $1.40$ CR_MINUS x RET x D $ 0.000881$ $1.54$ $0.000901$ $1.53$ MTB $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ $-2.39e-07$ $-0.64$ MTB x D $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ $-0.41$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06*$ $-1.87$ LEV $0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ <	CR_MINUS				-0.000599	-0.24			-0.00118	-0.44	
CR_MINUS x RET7.99e-061.339.00e-061.40CR_MINUS x RET x D-0.0008811.540.0009011.53MTB-1.94e-07-0.58-2.51e-07-0.70-1.84e-07-0.53-2.39e-07-0.64MTB x D0.0001471.22-1.90e-05-0.400.0001521.22-2.01e-05-0.41MTB x RET9.01e-091.659.33e-091.639.49e-091.669.75e-091.64MTB x RET x D1.35e-070.13-1.23e-06*-1.857.55e-080.07-1.33e-06*-1.87LEV-0.0132-0.88-0.00946-0.81-0.0130-0.83-0.00903-0.73LEV x D0.1360.29-0.100-0.420.1410.29-0.104-0.42LEV x RET2.55e-050.891.80e-050.822.55e-050.851.75e-050.76LEV x RET x D0.001320.490.001961.270.001370.480.002041.28LNSIZE x D0.02641.580.009770.860.02741.580.01010.86LNSIZE x RET x D8.07e-060.026.76e-050.171.07e-050.037.23e-050.17LIT x D-0.00474-0.77-0.00707-0.83-0.00346-0.53-0.00728-0.83LIT x RET x D-0.001991.030.0002121.030.0001960.970.0002050.96LIT x RET x D-0.000199-0.23-0.006	CR_MINUS x D				-0.00611	-0.35			-0.00638	-0.35	
CR_MINUS x RET x D MTB-0.0008811.540.0009011.53MTB $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ $-2.39e-07$ $-0.64$ MTB x D $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ $-0.41$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06^*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06^*$ $-1.87$ LEV $-0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $x$ RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.12$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$	CR_MINUS x RET				7.99e-06	1.33			9.00e-06	1.40	
MTB $-1.94e-07$ $-0.58$ $-2.51e-07$ $-0.70$ $-1.84e-07$ $-0.53$ $-2.39e-07$ $-0.64$ MTB x D $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ $-0.41$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06*$ $-1.87$ LEV $-0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.000255$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.00199$ $1.03$	CR_MINUS x RET x D	-			0.000881	1.54			0.000901	1.53	
MTB x D $0.000147$ $1.22$ $-1.90e-05$ $-0.40$ $0.000152$ $1.22$ $-2.01e-05$ $-0.41$ MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06*$ $-1.87$ LEV $-0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000$	MTB		-1.94e-07	-0.58	-2.51e-07	-0.70	-1.84e-07	-0.53	-2.39e-07	-0.64	
MTB x RET $9.01e-09$ $1.65$ $9.33e-09$ $1.63$ $9.49e-09$ $1.66$ $9.75e-09$ $1.64$ MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06^*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06^*$ $-1.87$ LEV $-0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.00969$ $-0.33$ $-0.00979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,140$ <td>MTB x D</td> <td></td> <td>0.000147</td> <td>1.22</td> <td>-1.90e-05</td> <td>-0.40</td> <td>0.000152</td> <td>1.22</td> <td>-2.01e-05</td> <td>-0.41</td>	MTB x D		0.000147	1.22	-1.90e-05	-0.40	0.000152	1.22	-2.01e-05	-0.41	
MTB x RET x D $1.35e-07$ $0.13$ $-1.23e-06^*$ $-1.85$ $7.55e-08$ $0.07$ $-1.33e-06^*$ $-1.87$ LEV $-0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.000979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT x D $-0.00247$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ <tr <tr="">Observations<math>3,199</math></tr>	MTB x RET		9.01e-09	1.65	9.33e-09	1.63	9.49e-09	1.66	9.75e-09	1.64	
LEV $-0.0132$ $-0.88$ $-0.00946$ $-0.81$ $-0.0130$ $-0.83$ $-0.00903$ $-0.73$ LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.000979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT x D $-0.00226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	MTB x RET x D		1.35e-07	0.13	-1.23e-06*	-1.85	7.55e-08	0.07	-1.33e-06*	-1.87	
LEV x D $0.136$ $0.29$ $-0.100$ $-0.42$ $0.141$ $0.29$ $-0.104$ $-0.42$ LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.000979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT x D $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	LEV		-0.0132	-0.88	-0.00946	-0.81	-0.0130	-0.83	-0.00903	-0.73	
LEV x RET $2.55e-05$ $0.89$ $1.80e-05$ $0.82$ $2.55e-05$ $0.85$ $1.75e-05$ $0.76$ LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.000979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.00728$ $-0.033$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.00645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	LEV x D		0.136	0.29	-0.100	-0.42	0.141	0.29	-0.104	-0.42	
LEV x RET x D $0.00132$ $0.49$ $0.00196$ $1.27$ $0.00137$ $0.48$ $0.00204$ $1.28$ LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.000979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	LEV x RET		2.55e-05	0.89	1.80e-05	0.82	2.55e-05	0.85	1.75e-05	0.76	
LNSIZE $-0.000969$ $-0.33$ $-0.000979$ $-0.33$ $-0.00124$ $-0.40$ $-0.00126$ $-0.40$ LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.00645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ Numbra of arguing $55$ $55$ $53$ $53$ $53$	LEV x RET x D		0.00132	0.49	0.00196	1.27	0.00137	0.48	0.00204	1.28	
LNSIZE x D $0.0264$ $1.58$ $0.00977$ $0.86$ $0.0274$ $1.58$ $0.0101$ $0.86$ LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.00645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	LNSIZE		-0.000969	-0.33	-0.000979	-0.33	-0.00124	-0.40	-0.00126	-0.40	
LNSIZE x RET $-8.36e-06$ $-1.18$ $-7.18e-06$ $-1.17$ $-8.57e-06$ $-1.16$ $-7.38e-06$ $-1.16$ LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	LNSIZE x D		0.0264	1.58	0.00977	0.86	0.0274	1.58	0.0101	0.86	
LNSIZE x RET x D $8.07e-06$ $0.02$ $6.76e-05$ $0.17$ $1.07e-05$ $0.03$ $7.23e-05$ $0.17$ LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.006455$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$	LNSIZE x RET		-8.36e-06	-1.18	-7.18e-06	-1.17	-8.57e-06	-1.16	-7.38e-06	-1.16	
LIT $-0.0226$ $-0.98$ $-0.0232$ $-0.94$ $-0.0233$ $-0.97$ $-0.0239$ $-0.93$ LIT x D $-0.00474$ $-0.77$ $-0.00707$ $-0.83$ $-0.00346$ $-0.53$ $-0.00728$ $-0.83$ LIT x RET $0.000199$ $1.03$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.00205$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000190$ $-0.23$ $-0.000645$ $-1.05$ $-0.000211$ $-0.25$ $-0.000680$ $-1.07$ Observations $3,199$ $3,199$ $3,140$ $3,140$ $3,140$ R-squared $0.824$ $0.847$ $0.828$ $0.847$ Number of groups $55$ $57$ $57$ $57$	LNSIZE x RET x D		8.07e-06	0.02	6.76e-05	0.17	1.07e-05	0.03	7.23e-05	0.17	
LIT x D LIT x RET $-0.00474$ $0.000199$ $-0.77$ $1.03$ $-0.00707$ $0.000212$ $-0.83$ $1.03$ $-0.00346$ $0.000196$ $-0.53$ $0.97$ $-0.00728$ $0.000205$ $-0.83$ $0.96$ LIT x RET x D $-0.000199$ $1.03$ $-0.000190$ $0.000212$ $1.03$ $0.000211$ $0.000196$ $0.97$ $0.000205$ $0.96$ $0.96680$ Observations $3,199$ $0.824$ $3,140$ $0.828$ $3,140$ $0.828$ $3,140$ $0.828$ Number of groups $55$ $55$ $53$	LIT		-0.0226	-0.98	-0.0232	-0.94	-0.0233	-0.97	-0.0239	-0.93	
LIT x RET       0.000199       1.03       0.000212       1.03       0.000196       0.97       0.000205       0.96         LIT x RET x D       -0.000190       -0.23       -0.000645       -1.05       -0.000211       -0.25       -0.000680       -1.07         Observations       3,199       3,199       3,140       3,140         R-squared       0.824       0.847       0.828       0.847         Number of groups       55       55       53       53	LIT x D		-0.00474	-0.77	-0.00707	-0.83	-0.00346	-0.53	-0.00728	-0.83	
LIT x RET x D       -0.000190       -0.23       -0.000645       -1.05       -0.000211       -0.25       -0.000680       -1.07         Observations       3,199       3,199       3,140       3,140         R-squared       0.824       0.847       0.828       0.847         Number of groups       55       55       53       53	LIT x RET		0.000199	1.03	0.000212	1.03	0.000196	0.97	0.000205	0.96	
Observations         3,199         3,199         3,140         3,140           R-squared         0.824         0.847         0.828         0.847           Number of groups         55         55         53         53	LIT x RET x D		-0.000190	-0.23	-0.000645	-1.05	-0.000211	-0.25	-0.000680	-1.07	
R-squared         0.824         0.847         0.828         0.847           Number of groups         55         55         53         53	Observations		3.199		3.199		3.140		3.140	I	
Number of groups $55$ $55$ $52$ $52$	R-squared		0.824		0.847		0.828		0.847		
	Number of groups		55		55		53		53		

Table 4: Proximity to Broad Rating Changes and Conservatism in Reported Earnings: Conservatism is Estimated by Using Net Income Model with Market Return as Proxy for Economic Gains and Lossos

The model is estimated using the Fama-MacBeth approach. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows:

The dependent variable NI is net income before extraordinary items divided by beginning of the year market value of equity.
 **RET** is annual return, calculated as quarterly return of the first quarter after fiscal year end date in year t-1 to three months after fiscal year end date in year t. D is an indicator variable that equals one if RET is negative and zero otherwise.
 **CR\_POM** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating and zero otherwise.
 **CR\_PLUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating and zero otherwise.
 **CR\_MINUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating and zero otherwise.

Excluding Large Debt Offerings Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings											
	Expected	Eq. 4a	00	Eq. 4t	)	Eq. 4a	0 0	Eq. 41	b		
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat		
	0										
Constant		0.00533	0.10	0.00545	0.10	0.00867	0.15	0.00879	0.15		
D		-0.343*	-1.78	-0.185	-1.61	-0.357*	-1.78	-0.192	-1.62		
RET		0.000138	1.19	0.000140	1.21	0.000142	1.18	0.000144	1.20		
RET x D		-0.00371	-0.61	-0.00399	-0.66	-0.00384	-0.61	-0.00414	-0.66		
CR_POM (micro)		-0.00401	-0.72			-0.00476	-0.83				
CR_POM x D		-0.0213	-0.84			-0.0220	-0.84				
CR_POM x RET		1.17e-05	0.90			1.31e-05	0.97				
CR_POM x RET x D	-	-0.000834	-1.41			-0.000874	-1.43				
CR_PLUS (micro)				-0.00496	-1.02			-0.00565	-1.02		
CR_PLUS x D				2.03e-06	1.00			5.85e-07	1.00		
CR_PLUS x RET				0.00227	0.99			0.00236	0.99		
CR_PLUS x RET x D	-			2.77e-05	0.99			2.88e-05	0.99		
CR_MINUS (micro)				-0.00444	-0.75			-0.00519	-0.86		
CR_MINUS x D				0.00138	0.13			0.00149	0.14		
CR_MINUS x RET				1.20e-05	0.91			1.34e-05	0.98		
CR_MINUS x RET x D	-			-0.000498	-1.01			-0.000525	-1.03		
MTB		2.66e-07	1.43	2.65e-07	1.40	3.03e-07	1.59	3.01e-07	1.55		
MTB x D		1.60e-05	0.43	2.40e-05	0.72	1.67e-05	0.43	2.50e-05	0.73		
MTB x RET		1.23e-09	0.38	1.25e-09	0.38	1.19e-09	0.35	1.21e-09	0.36		
MTB x RET x D		-1.25e-06	-0.99	-1.28e-06	-1.01	-1.25e-06	-0.95	-1.28e-06	-0.98		
LEV		-0.00155	-0.52	-0.00147	-0.51	-0.000614	-0.17	-0.000521	-0.15		
LEV x D		-0.0940	-0.35	-0.194	-0.76	-0.0975	-0.35	-0.202	-0.76		
LEV x RET		-1.29e-05	-1.29	-1.23e-05	-1.26	-1.42e-05	-1.34	-1.36e-05	-1.31		
LEV x RET x D		0.00261	1.25	0.000612	1.00	0.00274	1.26	0.000657	1.03		
LNSIZE		-0.000424	-0.12	-0.000432	-0.12	-0.000641	-0.17	-0.000649	-0.18		
LNSIZE x D		0.0273	1.63	0.0152	1.28	0.0284	1.63	0.0158	1.28		
LNSIZE x RET		-7.98e-06	-1.15	-8.09e-06	-1.17	-8.19e-06	-1.14	-8.32e-06	-1.16		
LNSIZE x RET x D		0.000200	0.45	0.000233	0.53	0.000205	0.45	0.000239	0.52		
LIT		-0.0205	-0.91	-0.0211	-0.94	-0.0212	-0.91	-0.0219	-0.94		
LIT x D		0.000809	0.24	0.000745	0.22	0.00243	0.65	0.00237	0.63		
LIT x RET		0.000216	1.15	0.000217	1.16	0.000212	1.09	0.000214	1.10		
LIT x RET x D		-0.000306	-0.37	-0.000330	-0.39	-0.000331	-0.38	-0.000353	-0.4		
Observations		2 100		2 100		2140		2140			
Deservations		5,199		5,199		0 0 0 1		0.824			
K-squared		0.815		0.818		0.821		0.824	ł		
Number of groups		55		55		53		53			

 Table 5: Proximity to Micro Rating Changes and Conservatism in Reported Earnings

 Conservatism is Estimated by Using Net Income Model with Market Return as Proxy for Economic Gains and Losses

The model is estimated using the Fama-MacBeth approach. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows:

The dependent variable **NI** is net income before extraordinary items divided by beginning of the year market value of equity. **RET** is annual return, calculated as quarterly return of the first quarter after fiscal year end date in year t-1 to three months after fiscal year end date in year t. **D** is an indicator variable that equals one if RET is negative and zero otherwise. **CR\_POM** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. **CR\_PLUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. **CR\_MINUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise.

Conservatism Estimated	by Using	Itet meom		ige mouer	WILLI I V		Chang	c as 110Ay	101
		Excludin	g Large	e Debt Offer	rings	cluding Larg	ge Deb	t and Equity	Offerir
	Expected	Eq. 5	a	Eq. 5	b	Eq. 5	a	Eq. 5b	
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat
Constant		-0.00037	-0.17	-0.00028	-0.14	-0.00098	-0.43	-0.00095	-0.44
DΔNI		-0.00682	-1.62	-0.0113**	-2.36	-0.00903*	-1.88	-0.0135**	-2.44
ΔΝΙ		0.044	0.16	0.323	1.05	0.121	0.42	0.418	1.33
DΔΝΙ x ΔΝΙ		-1.159*	-1.82	-1.737**	-2.30	-1.733**	-2.18	-2.328**	-2.41
CR_POM		0.000311	0.13			0.000193	0.08		
CR_POM x D∆NI		-0.00017	-0.06			0.000224	0.08		
CR_POM x $\Delta NI$		-0.141	-0.31			-0.164	-0.35		
CR_POM x DΔNI x ΔNI	+	0.285	0.56			0.465	0.80		
CR_PLUS				0.00536	1.11			0.00566	1.13
CR_PLUS x D∆NI				-0.00959	-1.57			-0.00562	-1.08
CR_PLUS x $\Delta$ NI				0.235	0.60			0.224	0.55
CR_PLUS x DANI x ANI	+			-0.593	-0.96			-0.406	-0.73
CR_MINUS				0.00207	0.71			0.00206	0.69
CR_MINUS x DANI				0.000332	0.09			0.000621	0.16
CR_MINUS x $\Delta NI$				-0.533	-0.89			-0.605	-0.96
CR_MINUS x D $\Delta$ NI x $\Delta$ NI	+			0.351	0.37			0.583	0.56
SIZE		-0.00181	-1.01	-0.00232	-1.14	-0.00133	-0.70	-0.00174	-0.82
SIZE x DANI		0.00805	1.54	0.0150**	2.36	0.0111*	1.88	0.0179**	2.49
SIZE x $\Delta NI$		-0.822	-1.35	-1.117*	-1.72	-0.931	-1.47	-1.253*	-1.87
SIZE x DΔΝΙ x ΔΝΙ		1.95	1.61	2.730*	1.95	2.686**	2.02	3.390**	2.21
Observations		3,283	3	3,283		3,224		3,244	
R-squared		0.605	5	0.646	5	0.605		0.644	
Number of groups		51		51		49		49	

Table 6: Proximity to Broad Rating Changes and Conservatism in Reported Earnings: Conservatism Estimated by Using Net Income Change Model with Net Income Change as Proxy for

The model is estimated using the Fama-MacBeth approach. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows:

The dependent variable **ΔNI** is the change in net income before extraordinary items from the year t+1 to t, scaled by total assets at the beginning of the year. **DΔNI** is an indicator variable that equals one if ΔNI is negative and zero otherwise. **ΔNI** is also an independent variable measured as the change in net income before extraordinary items from year t-1 to t, scaled by beginning of year total assets **SIZE** is the percentile rank of total assets at the end of the year, standardized between 0 and 1. **CR\_POM** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating and zero otherwise. **CR\_PLUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating and zero otherwise. **CR\_MINUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating and zero otherwise.

	cu by com	Excludin	g Large	e Debt Offer	ings	cluding Lar	ge Deb	t and Equity Offer	
	Expected	Eq. 5	a	Eq. 5	b	Eq. 5	a	Eq. 5t	)
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat
Constant		0.00286	1.34	0.00276	1.30	0.00228	1.03	0.00216	0.99
DΔNI		-0.0101***	-2.73	-0.0102***	-2.82	-0.0114***	-2.95	-0.0117***	-3.1
$\Delta NI$		-0.0824	-0.33	-0.118	-0.46	-0.114	-0.44	-0.0914	-0.35
DΔΝΙ x ΔΝΙ		-1.000*	-1.89	-0.960*	-1.79	-1.096*	-1.94	-1.120*	-2
CR_POM (micro)		0.00714	0.77			0.00655	0.67		
CR_POM x D∆NI		-0.00886	-0.95			-0.00828	-0.85		
CR_POM x $\Delta NI$		-2.401	-0.96			-2.388	-0.91		
CR_POM x DΔNI x ΔNI	+	1.966	0.77			1.669	0.62		
CR_PLUS (micro)				0.0153	1.62			0.0134	1.4
CR_PLUS x D∆NI				-0.00105	-0.24			0.000924	0.25
CR_PLUS x $\Delta$ NI				-3.358	-1.32			-3.289	-1.2
CR_PLUS x D $\Delta$ NI x $\Delta$ NI	+			0.267	0.76			0.0811	0.23
CR_MINUS (micro)				-0.00438	-1.63			-0.00449*	-1.69
CR_MINUS x D∆NI				0.0046	1.62			0.00291	0.96
CR_MINUS x $\Delta$ NI				0.716	1.48			0.686	1.48
CR_MINUS x D $\Delta$ NI x $\Delta$ NI	+			-0.804	-1.57			-1.177**	-2.02
SIZE		-0.00476*	-1.76	-0.00465*	-1.76	-0.0042	-1.50	-0.00396	-1.45
SIZE $x D\Delta NI$		0.0121**	2.29	0.0125**	2.42	0.0141**	2.51	0.0146**	2.64
SIZE $x \Delta NI$		-0.216	-0.44	-0.169	-0.33	-0.155	-0.30	-0.211	-0.41
SIZE x DΔΝΙ x ΔΝΙ		1.583	1.26	1.534	1.20	1.767	1.31	1.812	1.33
Observations		3,283	3	3,283	3	3,224		3,224	
R-squared		0.586	5	0.602	2	0.588		0.601	
Number of groups		51		51		49		49	

	Table 7:	Proximity to	Micro H	Rating Chai	nges and	Conserva	atism in 1	Reporte	d Earni	ngs:	
Conser	vatism is	Estimated by	v Using N	Net Income	Change	Model wi	ith Net I	ncome (	Change a	as Prox	v for

The model is estimated using the Fama-MacBeth approach. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows:

The dependent variable ΔNI is the change in net income before extraordinary items from the year t+1 to t, scaled by total assets at the beginning of the year. DΔNI is an indicator variable that equals one if ΔNI is negative and zero otherwise. ΔNI is also an independent variable measured as the change in net income before extraordinary items from year t-1 to t, scaled by beginning of year total assets SIZE is the percentile rank of total assets at the end of the year, standardized between 0 and 1. CR\_POM is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_PLUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_MINUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_MINUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise.

#### 5.3 Earnings management after the new credit rating agency regulation

The effect of the new credit rating agency regulation can be shown when all regressions are reestimated, once for the years 2010 and before and once for the years after 2010. These results are only estimated when discretionary accruals is used as a proxy for earnings management. Similar to table 2 for the sample that excludes large debt offerings, table 8 shows that when firms are near a broad rating downgrade there is a greater amount of discretionary accruals for the years before the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation (CR\_MINUS = 0.00580 | t=1.81). This effect is only significant at a 10% level, which is probably due to the split of an already small sample into two parts. This coefficient on CR\_MINUS becomes lower and insignificant (0.00186 | t=0.84) when the same regression is estimated for the years after the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation. This effect is more visible when both large debt and large equity offerings are excluded. The coefficient on CR\_MINUS then goes from 0.00657 (t=2.03) and becomes insignificant after the Credit Rating Agency Regulation. Contrary to table 2, there are no significant results when plus and minus rating changes are tested collectively. This change is probably due to the split in the sample which reduces the amount of observations per regression. For the sample that excludes large debt offerings the coefficient on CR\_PLUS is insignificant, similar to table 2.

The effect is also estimated for micro rating changes in table 9, however, similar to table 3 there seems to be no significant effect of earnings management for firms that are near a micro credit rating change than for firms who are not near a micro rating change.

				Discret	ionary A	ccruals Estimat	ed by l	Jsing the Ball	and Shiv	vakumar Mode	l (Equa	tion 3)					
				Excludi	ng Large	Debt Offering	S			Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings							
	Expected	Eq. 3a (≤20	)10)	Eq. 3a (>2	2010)	Eq. 3b (≤20	)10)	Eq. 3b (>2	2010)	Eq. 3a (≤20	)10)	Eq. 3a (>2	2010)	Eq. 3b (≤20	)10)	Eq. 3b (>	2010)
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat
Constant		-0.0492	-1.65	-0.0481***	-2.69	-0.0493	-1.65	-0.0482***	-2.70	-0.0360	-1.20	-0.0531***	-3.02	-0.0360	-1.20	-0.0533***	-3.03
CR_POM	+	0.00423	1.49	0.00280	1.46					0.00463	1.57	0.00292	1.55				
CR_PLUS	+					0.00262	0.62	0.00379	1.55					0.00261	0.60	0.00419*	1.72
CR_MINUS	+					0.00580*	1.81	0.00186	0.84					0.00657**	2.03	0.00171	0.78
LNSIZE		0.000308	0.22	0.00114	1.12	0.000309	0.22	0.00116	1.13	-0.000246	-0.18	0.00134	1.33	-0.000243	-0.17	0.00136	1.35
MTB		-3.02e-07	-0.55	1.68e-07	0.31	-3.02e-07	-0.54	1.60e-07	0.30	-3.80e-07	-0.70	1.02e-07	0.19	-3.80e-07	-0.70	9.09e-08	0.17
LIT		0.00707	1.45	4.91e-05	0.01	0.00720	1.47	8.53e-05	0.03	0.00778	1.65	-0.000431	-0.13	0.00789*	1.67	-0.000387	-0.12
LEV		-0.0164	-1.16	-0.0350***	-2.85	-0.0170	-1.18	-0.0348***	-2.86	-0.0174	-1.24	-0.0314**	-2.58	-0.0183	-1.27	-0.0311**	-2.58
ROA		0.0172	0.20	0.0838	1.12	0.0198	0.23	0.0843	1.12	0.0107	0.12	0.0761	1.01	0.0137	0.16	0.0767	1.01
LOSS		0.000911	0.18	-0.00399	-0.96	0.000886	0.18	-0.00389	-0.94	0.00164	0.33	-0.00419	-1.02	0.00162	0.32	-0.00408	-0.99
MA		-0.00511	-1.12	0.00231	0.85	-0.00516	-1.12	0.00224	0.82	-0.00679	-1.46	0.00294	1.09	-0.00687	-1.47	0.00288	1.06
LTACC		0.000276***	4.68	-0.00268	-0.20	0.000282***	4.96	-0.00329	-0.25	0.000289***	4.81	0.000180	0.01	0.000296***	5.11	-0.000601	-0.05
CFO		-0.363***	-8.00	-0.408***	-13.80	-0.364***	-8.00	-0.408***	-13.73	-0.354***	-7.17	-0.407***	-13.82	-0.354***	-7.20	-0.408***	-13.74
FIN		0.000123	0.03	0.00131	0.48	0.000154	0.04	0.00124	0.45	-0.000990	-0.24	0.00238	0.86	-0.000961	-0.24	0.00231	0.83
Ohaamatiana		574		940		574		940		EE C		222		FFC		922	
Observations		574		840		574		840		556		822		556		822	
K-squared		0.391		0.459		0.392		0.460		0.386		0.465		0.387		0.466	
Year Indicators		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included	

Table 8: The effect of earnings management to influence broad credit ratings before and after the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation

The model is estimated using the Huber-White procedure and clustering by firms. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows: The dependent variable **DA** is discretionary accruals. **CR\_POM** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating and zero otherwise. **CR\_PLUS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating and zero otherwise. **LNSIZE** is the log of the market value of equity. **MTB** is the market-to-book-ratio of a firm. **LIT** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm is in a high litigation industry (SIC code of 2833-2836, 3570-3577, 3600-3674, 5200-5961 and 7370). **LEV** is total debt divided by total assets. **ROA** is measured as earnings before extraordinary items divided by total assets at the end of the fiscal year. **LOSS** is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has engaged in a merger and acquisition, and zero otherwise. **LTACC** is last year's total accruals scaled by

beginning of the year's total assets. **CFO** is measured as cash flow from operations scaled by beginning of year total assets. **FIN** is an indicator variable that equals one if MA is not equal to one, and the number of outstanding shares increase by at least 10%, or long-term debt increased by at least 20%.

				Exclud	ling Large	e Debt Offering	S		Excluding Large Debt and Equity Offerings								
	Expected	Eq. 3a (≤20	010)	Eq. 3a (>	2010)	Eq. 3b (≤20	010)	Eq. 3b (>	2010)	Eq. 3a (≤20	010)	Eq. 3a (>	2010)	Eq. 3b (≤2	010)	Eq. 3b (>2	2010)
VARIABLES	sign	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat	Coefficient	t-stat
Constant		-0.0509*	-1.69	-0.0494***	-2.75	-0.0508*	-1.68	-0.0495***	-2.74	-0.0380	-1.25	-0.0546***	-3.07	-0.0379	-1.24	-0.0546***	-3.05
CR_POM (micro)	+	0.00190	1.04	-0.00207	-1.29					0.00187	1.04	-0.00220	-1.40				
CR_PLUS (micro)	+					0.00283	0.61	-0.00114	-0.36					0.00304	0.62	-0.00199	-0.61
CR_MINUS (micro)	+					0.00171	0.79	-0.00224	-1.18					0.00164	0.76	-0.00223	-1.20
LNSIZE		0.000355	0.25	0.00131	1.28	0.000344	0.24	0.00132	1.28	-0.000182	-0.13	0.00152	1.49	-0.000196	-0.14	0.00152	1.48
MTB		-2.38e-07	-0.43	9.53e-08	0.18	-2.40e-07	-0.43	9.14e-08	0.17	-3.11e-07	-0.57	3.15e-08	0.06	-3.13e-07	-0.58	3.07e-08	0.06
LIT		0.00733	1.48	0.000142	0.04	0.00730	1.47	0.000125	0.04	0.00805*	1.68	-0.000344	-0.11	0.00801*	1.67	-0.000347	-0.11
LEV		-0.0155	-1.10	-0.0335***	-2.78	-0.0155	-1.10	-0.0335***	-2.78	-0.0164	-1.17	-0.0296**	-2.49	-0.0164	-1.17	-0.0296**	-2.48
ROA		0.0226	0.26	0.0833	1.09	0.0213	0.24	0.0827	1.08	0.0156	0.17	0.0766	1.00	0.0140	0.15	0.0765	0.99
LOSS		0.00128	0.26	-0.00376	-0.90	0.00124	0.25	-0.00376	-0.90	0.00201	0.40	-0.00388	-0.93	0.00196	0.39	-0.00388	-0.93
MA		-0.00502	-1.10	0.00240	0.87	-0.00496	-1.10	0.00241	0.87	-0.00662	-1.42	0.00303	1.10	-0.00656	-1.42	0.00303	1.10
LTACC		0.000253***	4.46	-0.00461	-0.36	0.000254***	4.45	-0.00466	-0.37	0.000265***	4.52	-0.00183	-0.15	0.000265***	4.53	-0.00184	-0.15
CFO		-0.362***	-7.89	-0.409***	-13.96	-0.362***	-7.87	-0.409***	-13.97	-0.353***	-7.07	-0.409***	-13.99	-0.353***	-7.05	-0.409***	-14.00
FIN		9.15e-05	0.02	0.00150	0.54	0.000158	0.04	0.00152	0.54	-0.000936	-0.23	0.00254	0.91	-0.000854	-0.21	0.00254	0.91
Observations		574		840		574		840		556		822		556		822	
R-squared		0.388		0.458		0.388		0.458		0.382		0.464		0.382		0.464	
Year Indicators		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included		Included	

Table 9: The effect of earnings management to influence micro credit ratings before and after the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation

Discretionary Accruals Estimated by Using the Ball and Shivakumar Model (Equation 3)

The model is estimated using the Huber-White procedure and clustering by firms. \*\*\*, \*\* and \* indicate the significance levels of 0.01, 0.05 and 0.10, respectively. The variables are defined as follows: The dependent variable DA is discretionary accruals. CR\_POM is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus or minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_PLUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a plus ore dir rating at micro level and zero otherwise. CR\_MINUS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has a minus credit rating at micro level and zero otherwise. LNSIZE is the log of the market value of equity. MTB is the market-to-book-ratio of a firm. LIT is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm is in a high litigation industry (SIC code of 2833-2836, 3570-3577, 3600-3674, 5200-5961 and 7370). LEV is total debt divided by total assets. ROA is measured as earnings before extraordinary items divided by total assets at the end of the fiscal year. LOSS is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm reports a net loss. MA is an indicator variable that equals one if a firm has engaged in a merger and acquisition, and zero otherwise. LTACC is last year's total accruals scaled by beginning of year total assets. FIN is an indicator variable that equals one if MA is not equal to one, and the number of outstanding shares increase by at least 10%, or long-term debt increased by at least 20%.

## 6. Summary and conclusion

Ali and Zhang (2008) indicate that US firms that are near a broad rating upgrade or downgrade are more likely to inflate earnings as compared to firms that are not near a broad rating upgrade or downgrade. Their measures of earnings inflation are discretionary accruals and conservatism in reported earnings. Other research to date has also examined if earnings management activities are associated with credit ratings [ (Alissa, Bonsall, Koharki, & Penn, 2013) (Jung, Soderstrom, & Yang, 2013)]. This research follows up by examining if earnings management is present for firms near rating changes in the European market. In this chapter the thesis is finalized by answering the research question 'Do managers' of European firms attempt to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management?'.

#### 6.1 Conclusions

Multiple hypotheses were tested to answer the main research question. First, it was tested whether firms near a credit rating upgrade (downgrade) are more likely to engage in earnings management by reporting greater discretionary accruals. As expected discretionary accruals are greater when firms have either a plus or minus credit rating and when firms are near a broad rating downgrade. There is no evidence which supports greater discretionary accruals for firms that are near a broad rating upgrade. Overall, the results indicate that managers attempt to avoid downgrades but don't pursue upgrades.

Second, the effect of conservatism in reported earnings is tested for firms that are near a broad rating change. Contrary to the results of discretionary accruals, there was no statistical significance to conclude that firms report less conservative when near a broad rating change.

Assuming that managers not only care about a change from one broad rating to another, but are concerned with a change in rating of any kind, both hypotheses are re-estimated using micro rating changes. However, the results from these tests don't report any evidence in favor of this hypothesis, which does not support the assumption that managers are concerned with a rating of any kind, but only when there is a significant benefit to gain or lose.

Last, there was an expected difference in results for the period before the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation and the period after. This test was only done with discretionary accruals, since it provided the most significant answers in previous tests which is necessary to show an effect. When the regressions are re-estimated and the sample is split in a sample before 2010 and one after 2010, I find only significant results for firms with a minus rating, which disappears in the sample after 2010. The effect of earnings management for firms near a broad rating change grows insignificant after 2010, except for firms near a broad rating upgrade when both large debt and equity offerings are excluded. This effect could be due to changes in behavior of credit rating agencies, differences in the capital structure of firms due to the financial crisis or due to unknown reasons. Overall, the conclusion can be drawn that the effect of earnings management to influence credit ratings is smaller after the new Credit Rating Agency Regulation.

Concluding, the results don't confirm the first three hypothesis. The results don't show any statistical significance for conservatism in reported earnings for firms that are near a broad rating upgrade or downgrade. There is evidence that firms near a broad rating downgrade report greater discretionary accruals than firms not near a broad rating downgrade, but this result is not significant for broad rating upgrades. Therefore I conclude that managers of European firms do not attempt to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management.

#### 6.2 Limitations

Even though this study was carefully prepared, I am aware that there are limitations and shortcomings. First of all a limitation of this study is the relatively small sample size. For this reason it is difficult to conclude this research for the entirety of Europe. At the start of this research ISIN codes for firms in 20 different countries were used, which gave 8512 credit rating events. However, after merging different datasets and dropping variables with missing or duplicate data only 1312 observations remained to measure discretionary accruals and about 3200 for measuring conservatism.

Second, the sample period used in this study includes the economic crisis, where credit rating agencies came under a lot of criticism which resulted in a loss of credibility of the ratings published by these agencies. For future research it could be interesting to test the same effect in

an equally large sample period before the crisis as after the crisis to really capture the effect the economic crisis had on the credibility of credit rating agencies.

Third, the sample consists mainly of credit ratings of firms from Western European countries. To increase the comparability and to be conclusive for Europe as a whole, other countries have to be added as well. In this thesis the observations for these countries are dropped because of a lack of available data.

#### 6.3 Summary

Regarding the main research question 'Do managers' of European firms attempt to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management?', this thesis provides results that indicate that managers in Europe do not try to improve their credit risk rating through earnings management. There is an expected effect, since having a specific credit rating has consequences for both firms and investors. For example, a higher credit rating could reduce the cost of debt of a firm and a higher credit ratings does not restrict certain investors from investing in the firm. In order to answer the research question two proxies for earnings management are used. One measure of earnings management is discretionary accruals, which is estimated using the modified Jones model (1991). The other way in which earnings management is measured is by looking at accounting conservatism in reported earnings. For this measure both the Basu model (1997) and the Ball and Shivakumar model (2005) are used. The independent variable, credit rating changes, focuses on both "broad ratings", as well as "micro ratings'. Broad ratings refer to ratings that include the minus, middle, and plus specification for a rating, while micro ratings refer to a specific rating that includes a plus or minus modification. The results indicate that managers use accrual-based earnings management when they are near a broad rating downgrade. There is no statistical evidence which shows that managers of firms that are near a broad rating upgrade engage in accrual-based earnings management. The models which measure conservatism in reported earnings also don't show any statistical evidence to support the presence of earnings management for firms near a broad rating upgrade or downgrade. Firms that are near a micro rating change do not seem to show any form of earnings management, indicating that managers are more concerned with broad rating changes. This result holds, since a change in broad rating has a greater effect on a firm than a change in micro rating.

#### 6.4 Conclusion literature matrix

Ali and Zhang (2008) tested whether earnings inflation was greater for U.S. firms that are near a broad rating upgrade or near a broad rating downgrade as compared to U.S. firms that are not near a broad rating change. In this thesis similar research was done for European firms. The hypothesis of Ali and Zhang was split in order to have two hypothesis for two different proxies of earnings management. Contrary to Ali and Zhang the results for European firms don't show significant results for earnings management when conservatism is used as a proxy. When discretionary accruals are used as proxy for earnings management there is only a significant result which shows that discretionary accruals are greater when firms are near a broad rating downgrade. Kisgen (2006) argues that rating results are consistent with managers viewing ratings as a signal of firm quality. They will thus try to avoid a downgrade and should pursue an upgrade. However, the results from this thesis show that managers do try to avoid a downgrade in credit ratings, but they don't pursue any upgrade. Contrary Jung et al. (2013) show that earnings smoothing is more concentrated in firms with a plus rating. These results could differ due to a higher reliance on the signaling quality of credit ratings for US firms which makes it more interesting to pursue an upgrade than it could be for European firms.

Kisgen (2006) shows questions that managers are not only interested in broad rating changes, but are concerned with a ratings change of any kind. Therefore, I test for both broad rating changes as well as micro rating changes. He shows results that are in line with this view. Degeorge et al. (1999) shows that managers engage in earnings management to exceed certain thresholds. Concluding from this literature there should thus be no difference in the results of the relation between earnings management and credit rating changes, both broad and micro. However, the results of this thesis provide little support for earnings management to be existent for firms near a broad rating change, but it provides no support for earnings management for firms near a micro rating change.

Overall, the results differ from prior literature. One of the reasons could be due to the difference between Europe and the U.S., which eventually places this thesis in the credit rating and earnings management literature by showing that there are less significant results that

indicate that earnings management is existent for firms that are near a broad or micro rating change.

### 7. References

- Afonso, A., Gomes, P., & Rother, P. (2011). Short-and long-run determinants of sovereign debt credit ratings. *International Journal of Finance & Economics*, 1-15.
- Akerlof, G. A. (1970). The market for "Lemons": Quality uncertainty and the market mechanism. *The quarterly journal of economics*, 488-500.
- Ali, A., & Zhang, W. (2008). Proximity to broad credit rating change and earnings management. 30.
- Alissa, W., Bonsall, S. B., Koharki, K., & Penn, M. W. (2013). Firms' use of accounting discretion to influence their credit ratings. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 129-147.
- Ashbaugh-Skaife, H., Collins, D. W., & LaFond, R. (2006). The effects of corporate governance on firms' credit ratings. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 203-243.
- Ball, R., & Shivakumar, L. (2005). Earnings Quality in UK Private Firms: Comparative Loss Recognition Timeliness. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 83-128.
- Basu, S. (1997). The conservatism principle and the asymmetric timeliness of earnings. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 3-37.
- Bliss, J. (1924). Management through accounts. New York: The Ronald Press Co.
- Brecht, K. (2015, October 29). Open Markets. How U.S. and EU capital markets are different, p. 2.
- Chen, Q., Hemmer, T., & Zhang, Y. (2007). On the relation between conservatism in accounting standards and incentives for earnings management. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 541-566.
- Darbellay, A., & Partnoy, F. (2012). Credit rating agencies and regulatory reform. 28.
- De Fiore, F., & Uhlig Harald. (2005). Bank finance versus bond finance. *European Central Bank Working Paper Series*, 54.
- Dechow, P. M. (1994). Accounting Earnings and Cash Flows as Measures of Firm Performance: The Role of Accounting Accruals. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 3-42.
- Dechow, P. M., Sloan, R. G., & Sweeney, A. P. (1995). Detecting earnings management. *Accounting Review*, 193-225.
- Degeorge, F., Patel, J., & Zeckhauser, R. (1999). Earnings Management to Exceed Thresholds. *The Journal of Business*, 33.
- Demirtas, K. O., & Cornaggia, K. R. (2013). Initial credit ratings and earnings management. *Review of Financial Economics*, 135-145.
- Diamond, D. W. (1991). Monitoring and reputation: The choice between bank loans and directly placed debt. *Journal of Political Economy*, 689-721.

- Frank, M. Z., & Goyal, V. K. (2003). Testing the pecking order theory of capital structure. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 217-248.
- Frost, C. A. (2007). Credit rating agencies in capital markets: A review of research evidence on selected criticisms of the agencies. *Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance*, 469-492.
- Gassen, J., & Sellhorn, T. (2006). Applying IFRS in Germany: Determinants and consequences. 38.
- Ge, W., & Kim, J.-B. (2014). Real earnings management and the cost of new corporate bonds. *Journal of Business Research*, 641-647.
- Ghosh, A., & Moon, D. (2010). Corporate Debt Financing and Earnings Quality. *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 538-559.
- Gounopoulos, D., & Pham, H. (2017). Credit Ratings and Earnings Management around IPOs. *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, 51.
- Graham, J. R., & Harvey, C. R. (2001). The theory and practice of corporate finance: Evidence from the field. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 187-243.
- Graham, J. R., Harvey, C. R., & Rajgopal, S. (2005). The economic implications of corporate financial reporting. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 3-73.
- Grene, S. (2014, May 4). Big three credit rating agencies under fire. Financial Times, p. 3.
- Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (1995). The challenges of investor communication: The case of CUC International, Inc. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 111-140.
- Healy, P. M., & Wahlen, J. M. (1999). A Review of the Earnings Management Literature and its Implications for Standard Setting. *Accounting Horizons*, 365-383.
- ICAEW. (2015). *The effects of mandatory IFRS adoption in the EU: A review of empirical research.* London: ICAEW.
- Jiang, J. (2008). Beating earnings benchmarks and the cost of debt. The Accounting Review, 377-416.
- Jiraporn, P., Yoon, G. A., & Kim, Y. S. (2008). Is Earnings Management Opportunistic or Beneficial? An Agency Perspective. International Review of Financial Analysis, 622-634.
- John, K., Lynch, A. W., & Puri, M. (2003). Credit ratings and loan characteristics: implications for yield. Journal of Business, 371-409.
- Jones, J. J. (1991). Earnings management during import relief investigations. *Journal of Accounting Research*, 193-228.
- Jung, B., Soderstrom, N., & Yang, Y. S. (2013). Earnings smooting activities of firms to manage credit ratings. *Contemporary Accounting Research*, 645-676.

Kisgen, D. J. (2006). Credit ratings and capital structure. The Journal of Finance, 1035-1072.

- Kisgen, D. J. (2009). Do firms target credit ratings or leverage levels? *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, 1323-1344.
- Kothari, S. P., Leone, A. J., & Wasley, C. E. (2005). Performance matched discretionary accrual measures. *Journal of accounting and economics*, 163-197.
- Langohr, H. M., & Langohr, P. T. (2010). *The Rating Agencies and their Credit Ratings: What They Are, How They Work and Why They Are Relevant.* West Sussec: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Liu, Y., Ning, Y., & Davidson III, W. N. (2010). Earnings Management Surrounding New Debt Issues. *Financial Review*, 659-681.
- Loy, T. R. (2016). Stakeholder Influence on Earnings Management: Ethical Considerations and Potential Avenues. *Corporate Ownership and Control*, 31.
- Lynch, T. E. (2009). Deeply persistently conflicted: Credit rating agencies in the current regulatory environment. *Case Western Reserve Law Review*, 227-304.
- Millon, M. H., & Thakor, A. V. (1985). Moral hazard and information sharing: A model of financial information gathering agencies. *The Journal of Finance*, 1403-1422.
- Millstein, I. (2005, May 26). When earnings management becomes cooking the books. *Financial Times*, p. 3.
- Moloney, N. (2011). I. Reform or Revolution? The Financial Crisis, EU Financial Markets Law, and The European Securities and Markets Authority. *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, 521-533.
- Moody's Investors Service. (2016). Rating Symbols and Definitions. 48.
- Mullard, M. (2012). The credit rating agencies and their contribution to the financial crisis. *The Political Quarterly*, 77-95.
- Myers, S. C., & Mailuf, N. S. (1984). Corporate financing and investment decisions when firms have information that investors do not have. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 187-221.
- Rangan, S. (1998). Earnings management and the performance of seasoned equity offerings. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 101-122.
- Roychowdhury, S. (2006). Earnings management through real activities manipulation. *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 335-370.
- Schneinert, C. (2016). *The case for a European public credit rating agency*. Brussels: European Parliament.

- Securities and Exchange Commission. (2000). Selective disclosure and insider trading Release No. 33-788.
- Shivakumar, L. (2000). Do Firms Mislead Investors by Overstating Earnings Before Seasoned Equity Offerings? *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, 339-371.
- Standard & Poor's Ratings Services. (2014). Guide to Credit Rating Essentials. *McGraw Hill Financial*, 19.
- Teoh, S. H., Welch, I., & Wong, T. J. (1998a). Earnings management and the long-run market performance of initial public offerings. *Journal of Finance*, 1935-1974.
- Teoh, S. H., Welch, I., & Wong, T. J. (1998b). Earnings management and the underperformance of seasoned equity offerings. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 63-99.
- U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. (2013, May 13). Retrieved from Credit Ratings Agencies -NRSROs: https://www.sec.gov/answers/nrsro.htm
- Xie, B., Davidson III, W. N., & DaDalt, P. J. (2003). Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 295-316.
- Zhang, J. (2008). The contracting benefits of accounting conservatism to lenders and borrowers. *Journal* of Accounting and Economics, 27-54.

## 8. Appendices

## 8.1 Appendix 1 Libby Boxes





Moody's		Sð	¢Р	Fit	tch	Rating description		
Long- term		Long- term		Long- term				
Aaa	1	AAA	1	AAA	1	Prime		
Aa1	2	AA+	2	AA+	2			
Aa2	3	AA	3	AA	3	High grade		
Aa3	4	AA-	4	AA-	4			
A1	5	A+	5	A+	5			
A2	6	А	6	А	6	Upper medium grade		
A3	7	A-	7	A-	7			
Baa1	8	BBB+	8	BBB+	8	Lower modium		
Baa2	9	BBB	9	BBB	9	drade		
Baa3	10	BBB-	10	BBB-	10	grade		
Ba1	11	BB+	11	BB+	11	Non-investment grade		
Ba2	12	BB	12	BB	12	anaqulativa		
Ba3	13	BB-	13	BB-	13	speculative		
B1	14	B+	14	B+	14			
B2	15	В	15	В	15	Highly speculative		
B3	16	B-	16	B-	16			
Caa1	17	CCC+	17	CCC+	17			
Caa2	18	CCC	18	CCC	18	Substantial risks		
Caa3	19	CCC-	19	CCC-	19			
Ca	20	CC	20	CC	20	Extremely speculative		
		С	21	С	21	Default imminent		
C	21	RD	22	DDD	22			
/		SD	23	DD	23	In default		
/		D	24	D	24			

Including values that indicate similar quality rating

## 8.2 Appendix 3 Literature Matrix

## Literature matrix

Zoektermen	Auteur	Titel	Source	Database	Tiidshorizon 💌	Jaar	Onderzoeksvraag	Hypotheses	Conclusie	Thesis conclusies
Credit ratings,								There is a random effect for each country on the quantitative variable	- A limited dependent variable models with a random effects ordered probit estimation is the best estimation	
sovereign debt, rating									procedure to find the determinant of sovereign debt rating - A set of core variables have a short-run impact on	
agencies, panel data,									a country's credit rating - per capita GDP, GDP real growth, government debt and government deficit,	
random effects		Short- and long-run determinants	International Journal of Finance &	World bank, S&P, Moody's and					government effectiveness, external debt, foreign reserves and sovereign default have a long-run impact on a	
ordered probit	Afonso, Gomes and Rother	of sovereign debt credit ratings	Economics	Fitch	1970-2005	2011			country's rating	
		The market for "Lemons": Quality	The first state of the second state							
	Alumint	uncertainty and the market	The Quarterly Journal of			1070				
Broad credit ration	AKEIDI	mechanism	Economics			1970		M1: Earnings inflation is greater for firms that are near a broad rating upgrade or near a broad rating downgrade as	<ul> <li>Firms pass a broad ration upgrade (downgrade) are more likely to inflate earnings as compared to firms that</li> </ul>	- Sime pase a broad rating downgrade are more likely to inflate earnings as compared to
change earnings				COMPLISTAT (credit rating and				compared to firms that are not pear a broad rating objects of near a broad rating compared to firms that are not pear a broad rating change	are not near a broad rating upgrade (downgrade) are more mean to immediate compared to immediate to immedia	firms that are not near a broad rating downgrade
management, credit		Proximity to broad credit rating		accounting data)					- Firms believe that credit rating agencies cannot properly assess the extent to which current period's earnings	There is no statistical evidence that firms near a broad ratingupgrade are more likely to
rating agencies	Ali and Zhang	change and earnings management		CRSP (returns data)	1987-2005	2008			has been managed	inflate earnings as compared to firms that are not near a broad rating upgrade
							Do firms that deviate from	H1: Firms' income-increasing (-decreasing) earnings management activities are negatively (positively) associated with	- the empirically estimated credit rating deviations are associated with earnings management activities This	
Credit rating agencies,							an empirically modeled	deviations from their expected credit rating H2: Income-increasing (-decreasing) earnings management below-(above-)	effect is more pronounced for firms whose actual and expected ratings straddle the investment-grade	
expected ratings,							credit rating engage in	expected-rating firms is positively (negatively) associated with future credit rating changes	threshold Firms below or above their expected credit ratings may be able to succesfully achieve a desired	
earnings management,	Alissa, Bonsall, Koharki and	Firms' use of accounting discretion	Journal of Accounting and	S&P 500			earnings management		upgrade or downgrade through the use of earnings management	
accruals, real activities	Penn	to influence their credit ratings	Economics	COMPUSTAT	1985-2010	2013	activities			
								Management discipling hypothesis (the role that governance plays in mitigating the agency conflicts between	Firm credit ratings are:	<ul> <li>Accruals are positively related to credit ratings</li> </ul>
								management and all stakeholders)	<ol> <li>negatively associated with the number of blockholders that own at least a 5% ownership in the firm</li> </ol>	
				Board Analyst data base and firm				Wealth redistribution hypothesis (Governance features have the potential for affecting wealth transfers between	<ol><li>positively related to weaker shareholder rights in terms of takeover defenses</li></ol>	
				proxy statements (Governance				bondholders and shareholders)	<ol><li>positively related to the degree of financial transparency</li></ol>	
				measures, audit/non-audit tees					<ol> <li>positively related to overall board independence, board stock ownership and board expertise and negatively</li> </ol>	
C				and share ownership data)					related to CEU power on the board	
corporate governance,	Ashbaugh Chaife Callins and	The effects of severate	leveral of Association and	compustat (credit ratings and					Two measures of terms are not the scality of accords and the timeliness of according are parity of	
companyation	Lafond	ne elects or corporate	Economics	CPSP (stock return data)	2002	2006			related to credit rations	
Earnings quality	Laiond	governance on ninns credic racings	Economics	CRSF (stock return data)	2002	2006		. There is lars reversal of income decreases in private companies than in public companies, reflecting a lower frequency.	Private-company exclines are indeed of lower quality on twertee	
conservatism loss		1						of timely loss recognition due to lower demand for financial reporting available	- the difference between public and private company timeliness occurs consistently in both earnings changes	
recognition, private		1						Economic losses are recognized in a more timely fashion than gains	based and accruals-based tests of guality.	
firms economics of								There is a positive but asymmetric correlation between accruals and contemporaneous cash flows	- Financial statements are economic goods and their properties are determined primarily by the economic uses	
accounting standards.		Earnings quality in U.K. private						<ul> <li>There is a difference in demand for financial reporting in private and public companies</li> </ul>	to which they are put.	
earnings time series.		firms: Comparative loss	Journal of Accounting and					- Private firms are less likely to recognize economic losses in a timely fashion than public firms		
accruals	Ball & Shivakumar	recognition timeliness	Economics	Bureau Van Diik	1989-1999	2005				
		, in the second s						H1: The slope coefficient and R^2 from a regression of annual eranings on annuals unexpected returns are higher for	- earnings is contemporaneously more sensitive to negative unexpected returns than positive unexpected	
								negative unexpected returns than for positive unexpected returns	returns	
								H2: The increase in the timeliness of earnings over cash flow is greater for negative unexpected returns than positive	- earnings is more timely in reporting publicly available bad news about future cash flows than good news	
Capital markets,								unexpected returns	- greater timeliness of earnings relative to cash flow is due primarily to more timely recognition of bad news	
earnings return								H3: Negative earnings changes have a greater tendency to reverse in the following period than positive earnings	through accruals.	
relation, persistence,				CRESP NYSE/AMEX Monthly files				changes	- positive earnings changes tend to persist whereas negative earnings changes show a marked tendency to	
auditor legal liability,		The conservatism principle and the	Journal of Accounting and	(returns data)				H4: In a regression of announcement period abnormal returns on earnings changes, the slope on positive earnings	reverse	
negative returns	Basu	asymmetric timeliness of earnings	Economics	COMPUSTAT (accounting data)	1963-1990	1997		changes is higher than on negative earnings changes		
	Bliss	Management through accounts	New York: The Ronald Press Co	Boek		1924				
	<b>B</b>	How U.S. and EU capital markets	646 6 ··· · / · · / · · / ·			2015			<ul> <li>The fundamental difference in corporate funding between the U.S. and Europe is that European companies</li> </ul>	
ant income	Brecht	are different	CME Group (article)			2015			rely far more neavily on bank lending	
concentition									both the valuation role and the stewardship role	
conservation,									<ul> <li>Pick sharing can be improved under a concentrative accounting standard</li> </ul>	
financial accounting									- Hox sharing can be improved under a conservence accounting standard	
creative accounting.										
investors, estimation										
bias, financial		On the relation between								
statements, financial		conservatism in accounting								
management,		standards and incentives for								
accounting methods	Chen, Hemmer and Zhang	earnings management	Journal of Accounting Research			2007				
Credit ratings, credit									- It remains unclear how the removal of credit rating references from regulation will affect the markets	
rating agencies,									-More vigorous oversight and accountability measures can improve the performance of NRSROs	
regulatin, reform,										
Dodd-Frank Act,										
securities laws,										
oversight,							How much do investors			
accountability							stop relying on ratings, and			
derivatives, structured							how will a healthy and			
rinance, credit	Dashallan and Dash	credit rating agencies and		Markin		2012	competitative market for			
derivative	Darbellay and Partney	regulatory reform		Markit		2012	ratings emerge?		. The large thate of back finance in the Euro area relative to the US is due to lower availability of public	
		Rank Einance verzur Bond Einance:					What explains the		information shout firms' credit worthinger and to higher efficiency of banks in acquiring this type of	
		What explains the differences	European Central Bank (Morking				differencer between US and		information about minis creat wardiness and to highler enciency of ballies in acquiring this type of	
	De Fiore & Uhlip	between US and Europe?	paper series)			2005	Europe?		THE OTHER DATA	
			paper server)					H1: There is a stronger contemporaneous association between stock returns and earnings than between stock returns	- Over short measurement intervals earnings are more strongly associated with stork returns than are realized	
								and realized cash flows over short measurement intervals	cahs flows	
Capital markets.							The role of accounting	H2: The contemporaneous association of stock returns with realized cash flows improves relative to the	- The ability of realized cash flows to measure firm performance improves relative to earnings as the	
accruals, operating							accruals is to provide a	contemporaneous association of stock returns with earnings as the measurement interval is increased	measurement interval is lengthened	
cycle, timing and							measure of short-term	H3: The larger the absolute magnitude of aggregate accruals made by a firm, the lower the contemporaneous	- Earnings have a higher association with stock returns than do realized cash flows in firms experiencing large	
mismatching		Accounting Earnings and Cash					performance that more	association between stock returns and realized cash flows relative to the association between stock returns and	changes in their working capital requirements and their investment and financing activities.	
problems, summary		Flows as Measures of Firm					closely reflects expected	earnings	- Allthough accruals improve earnings' association with stock returns certain accruals are less likely to mitigate	
measures of		Performance: The Role of	Journal of Accounting and				cash flows than do realized	H4: The longer a firm's operating cycle, the more variable the firm's working capital requirements and the lower the	timing and matching problems in realized cash flows	
performance	Dechow	Accounting Accruals	Economics	COMPUSTAT	1980-1989	1994	cash flows	contemporaneous association between stock returns and realized cash flows		

				1	1	1		Pro the models reject the coll boundlessis of an excelore management of states are adjust the constitution test	All excelors measurement module confusion economical sections for a confirm complete of most sector	
Earnings management.								applied to samples of firms with extreme financial performance	The modified version of the model developed by Jones provides the most powerful tests of earnings	
discretionary accruals,									management	
models selection	Dechow, Sloan & Sweeney	Detecting Earnings Management	The Accounting Review	Compustat	1950-1991	1995				
									<ul> <li>Efforts to exceed thresholds induce particular patterns of EM</li> </ul>	- There is no evidence of earnings management near micro ratings, so there is no evidence
									Earnings failing just short of thresholds will be managed upward     Earnings far from thresholds, whether below or showe will be reined in making thresholds more attainable in	. Eirme seem to prevent extra cost by falling below a certain threshold (broad ration
									the future	downgrades) but don't seem to manage earnings to exceed a certain threshold (broad rating
									- EM driven by three thresholds: report positive profits, sustain recent performance and meet analysts'	upgrades)
	Degeorge, Patel and	Earnings Management to Exceed							expectations (hierarchically ordered)	
Earnings management	Zeckhauser	Thresholds	Journal of Business	I/B/E/S	1974-1996	2000			<ul> <li>Executives manage earnings in predictable ways to exceed thresholds</li> </ul>	
								Fig. corporate debt issues report abriormany right accidars for the period reading up to the initial credit ratings with a subrequent decline in account.	<ul> <li>issues engage in earlings management prior to initial depict facings</li> <li>issues around the time of initial credit ratios: make accounting choicer and reporting decirios that lead to</li> </ul>	
								H2: Corporate debt issuers with abnormal high accruals have enhanced credit ratings	unusually high working capital accruals	
									- the increase in accounting accruals leading up to the initial credit rating is followed by a reversal in	
Credit ratings, earnings									subsequent years	
management, accruals,		Initial Credit Ratings and Earnings		Moody's Investors Service (credit					- holding all other explanatory variables constant, firms moving from the conservative group to the aggresive	
market efficiency	Demirtas and Cornaggia	Management	Review of Financial Economics	ratings)	1980-2003	2013			group improve their ratings from B1 to Ba2	
loans credit ratings									being monitored and later switch to issuing directly placed debt	
monitoring costs,									- Reputation can deal with moral hazard, because better reputation implies that adverse selection is less severe.	
moral hazard,									- Monitoring that is very effective and cheap may fail to provide incentives to eliminate moral hazard	
expected returns,		Monitoring and reputation: the							- In periods of high present or anticipated future real interest rates or low present or future anticipated	
political economy, loan		choice between bank loans and							economy wide profitability, a higher credit rating is required to borrow without monitoring	
detaults, credit	Diamond	directly placed debt	Journal of Political Economy			1991	Doer the packing order	- After an Initial Dublic Offering, equity insues are only used in extreme discumstances	- Internal financing is not sufficient to cover investment spending on average	
							theory of capital structure	Pecking order hypothesis	Debt financing does not dominate equity financing in magnitude	
							provide a satisfactory		- Over time, support for the pecking order declines	
Pecking order theory;							account of the financing			
Capital structure,		Testing the pecking order theory of					behavior of publicly traded			
Financing deficit	Frank & Goyal	capital structure	Journal of Financial Economics	Compustat	1971-1998	2002	American firms?	We as a second with the set of the second shifts a set of the second second second second second second second		
								The study assesses the validity of widespread criticisms of the large, nationally recognized credit rating agencies	<ul> <li>A growing number of studies provide useful evidence on the role of credit ratings in capital markets</li> </ul>	
Credit rating agencies										
capital markets, U.S.										
Securities and		Credit Rating Agencies in Capital								
Exchange Commission,		Markets: A Review of Research								
disclosure,		Evidence on Selected Criticisms of	Journal of Accounting, Auditing							
government regulation	Frost	the Agencies	and Finance	Review		2007	D			We are a second at the second and the first second at the second s
							ruler ensure a high level of		<ul> <li>The voluntary adoption of texts for derman in misris initidenced by size, international exposure, and dispersion of owner/bin</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>There was no statistical evidence that there is less conservation in reported earlings by firms near a credit, ration change. This could be due to the mandatony adoption of IERS in</li> </ul>
							transnarency and		<ul> <li>IERS adoption was espacially attractive for young firms which initially went public subsequent to the mid-</li> </ul>	2005 which influences a large part of the sample
IFRS, earnings quality,							comparability?		1990s	
earnings attributes,							- How does financial		- IFRS firms have more persistent, less predictable and more conditionally conservative earnings	
information							reporting quality influence		- IFRS firms have earnings of higher quality	
asymmetry, standard							information asymmetry?		- IFRS adopters experience lower levels of information asymmetry on the German equity market relative to	
setting, IAS regulation,				Data provided by Bonse (2004),			-How does information		their German counterparts	
Europe, Propensity-				data about 'Neuer Markt'			asymmetry relate to stock			
score matching,	Carros & Callbara	Applying IFRS in Germany -		presented by Küting (2001) &	1003 2004	2006	prices e.g. to the firms' cost			
voluntary adoption	Gassell & Sellion	beterminants and consequences		wonoscope	1993-2004	2008	or equity capital?	H1a: There is a positive relation between the cost of new corporate bond issues and the level of RFM (managerial	Overaroduction impairs credit ratings	
								opportunism hypothesis)	- Sales manipulation and overproduction are associated with higher bond yield spreads	
								H1b: There is a negative relation between the cost of new corporate bond issues and the level of REM (desirable action	- Credit rating agencies and bondholders view REM as a credit risk-increasing factor	
Real earnings								hypothesis)	- Credit rating agencies perceive REM to be associated with managerial opportunism, which leads them to	
management, bond									downgrade credit ratings	
yield spread, credit	Co and Vim	Real earnings management and	Invent of Duringers Despects	COMPLICAT	1003 2000	2014			Bondholders require a higher risk premium for firms engaging in REM	
rating, new bond issue	de and Killi	the cost of new corporate bonds	Journal of Busiliess Research	COMPOSIAI	1993-2009	2014		H1: Famings quality first increases and then declines with increasing debt levels	<ul> <li>Accounting information prays an important role in the capital anotation process</li> <li>Increased monitoring from capital market participants is expected to lead to accounting accounts that are</li> </ul>	
								······································	more informative about future cash flows	
								H: The relationship between private debt and earnings quality is positive when debt is low	- For high debt there is a trade-off between benefits from reporting high quality earnings and benefits from	
								H: The relationship between private debt and earnings quality is negative when debt is sufficiently high	avoiding covenant breaches	
Debt financing,									- Earnings quality first increases and then declines across increasing levels of debt	
earnings quality,	Charle and Many	Corporate Debt Financing and	Journal of Business Finance and	COMPLICAT	1003 2005	2010			- While creditors are generally effective monitors of financial reporting they are not as effective when debt is	
accruais quality	anosh and woon	Earnings Quarty	Accounting	COMPOSIAI	1992-2004	2010		H1: Rated IPO firms are less likely to engage in income-increasing FM than unrated IPO firms in the offering year	There is a negative association between rating existence and income-increasing accrual-based and real EM in	
								H2: At-issue income-increasing EM is positively related to post-issue accounting performance for rated IPO firms	the offering year	
								H3: At-issue income-increasing EM is not related to post-issue long-run stock performance for rated IPO firms	- Rating levels are not significantly related to at-issue earnings management	
									- For unrated issuers, the at-issue income-increasing earnings management is not related to future earnings.	
									For rated issuers the income-increasing earnings management in the offering year is positively linked to	
									subsequent accounting performance	
									<ul> <li>Unrated issuers tend to opportunistically manage earnings around IPOs and investors are unable to see</li> </ul>	
IPOs, credit ratings		Credit Ratings and Earnings	Journal of Business Finance and	Securities Data Corporation					Rated issuers are more likely to employ discretion in accounting and operating decisions to convey the firm's	
earnings management	Gounopoulos	Management around IPOs	Accounting	Compustat, CRSP, S&P	1991-2011	2016			future prospects to the market	
								Focus on three areas:	- Small firms are significantly less likely to use the NPV criterion or the capital asset pricing model and its	
Capital structure, cost								Capital budgeting	variants.	
of capital, cost of								Cost of capital	- The practice of corporate finance differs based on firm size	
equity, capital		The three and exection of						Capital structure	Informational criteria such as financial flexibility and credit ratings are the most important debt policy factors	
rates project		corporate finance: evidence from							<ul> <li>Enalument and recent stock price appreciation are the most important factors influencing equity issuance</li> </ul>	
valuation, survey	Graham and Harvey	the field	Journal of Financial Economics	Survey		2001				
								Debt hypothesis	- Financial officers view earnings, not cash flows, as the most important metric reported to outsiders	- Cash flow from operations is significantly and negatively associated with discretionary
								political cost hypothesis	- A majority of the CFOs view institutional investors as the primary party that sets the price of their stock	accruals
								bonus plan hypothesis	- Managers want to meet or beat earnings benchmarks to (1) build credibility with the capital market, (2)	
									maintain or increase stock price, (3) improve the external reputation of the management team, and (4) convey	
									future growth prospects	
Financial statement									<ul> <li>manages aumit that they would take real economic actions such as delaying maintenance or advertising expenditure and would even give up positive NPV projects to meet earnings bandworks who </li></ul>	
earnings management									Executives are more reluctant to employ accounting discretion, such as accrual management, to meet	
earnings benchmark,									earnings targets, although accrual management is likely cheaper than giving up economic value	
voluntary disclosure,		The economic implications of	Journal of Accounting and						- CFOs prefer a smoother earnings path to a more volatile path (less risky by investors and improve	

		Big three credit rating agencies								
Investor	Grene	under fire	Financial Times			2014				
communication,		The challenges of investor								
accounting, financial		communication: The case of CUC								
policy	Healy and Palepu	A Review of the Earnings	Journal of Financial Economics			1995			- Earnings management occurs for a variety of reasons, including to influence stock market perceptions, to	
		Management Literature and its							increase management's compensation, to reduce the likelihood of violating lending agreements, and to avoid	
	Healy and Wahlen	Implications for Standard Setting	Accounting Horizons	Review		1999			regulatory intervention	
		adoption in the EU: A review of								
	ICAEW	empirical research	ICAEW			2015				
								H1: Ceteris paribus, beating earnings benchmarks lowers a firm's cost of debt H2: Reating earnings benchmarks has more pronounced effects on the cost of debt for firms with high default risk than	<ul> <li>Firms that beat earnings benchmarks increase (decrease) the probability of a ratings upgrade (downgrade) and receive a rmaller initial bond vield presed, both indicating lower cost of debt</li> </ul>	
								those with low default risk	<ul> <li>The effect of beating earnings benchmarks generally is much stronger for firms with high default risk than for</li> </ul>	
								H3: Reporting a profit has a more pronounced effect on a firm's cost of debt than reporting an earnings increase or	firms with low default risk	
Earnings benchmarks, cost of debt_credit		Beating Farnings Benchmarks and						beating analysts' earnings forecasts	<ul> <li>Beating the profit benchmark generally has the largest impact on a firm's cost of debt</li> <li>The reduction of cost of debt is reduced but does not disappear for firms that likely beat earnings benchmarks.</li> </ul>	
ratings, yield spread	Jiang	the Cost of Debt	The Accounting Review	I/B/E/S, S&P	1985-2003	2008			through earnings management	
Earnings management,								The purpose of this study is to distinguish between the opportunistic and beneficial uses of earnings management. They	Earnings management does not appear to occur to a larger extent in firms with high agency costs     Earnings management on support is not except a picture.	
governance				IRRC (corporate governance)				offer agency theory as a tramework in which a distinction can be made between the two hypotheses.	<ul> <li>Earnings management on average is not opportunistic and, pernaps, even beneficial</li> <li>There is a positive relationship between earnings management and firm value</li> </ul>	
governance provsions,		Is Earnings Management		I/B/E/S (earnings estimates)						
agency costs,	N	Opportunistic or Beneficial? An	International Review of Financial	CRSP (market value data)	1993, 1995 and	2000				
corporate governance	Jiraporn, toon and Kim	Agency Perspective	Anaiysis	COMPOSIAI (control variables)	1998	2008		Managers of domestic producers that would benefit from import protection make accounting choices that reduce	Managers make income-decreasing accruals during import relief investigations.	
Creative accounting,								reported earnings during ITC inveestigation periods as compared to noninvestigation periods.	- Discretionary accruals are more income-decreasing during the year the ITC completed its investigation than	
financial management,									would otherwise be expected	
industry, industrial										
management, imports,										
international trade,										
industry, statistical		Earnings management during								
estimation	Jones	import relief investigations	Journal of Accounting Research	Compustat		1991				
								H1a: Firms with a plus or minus notch credit rating smooth earnings to a greater extent than other firms within the	<ul> <li>Earnings smoothing via earnings management is more concentrated in firms with a plus notch rating,</li> </ul>	- Earnings management activiteits are only visible in firms with a minus notch rating. This
								same broad rating category H1b: The extent of earnings smoothing becomes larger (smaller) after firms' credit ratings change to (from) plus or	<ul> <li>earnings smoothing activity increases the likelihood of a subsequent rating upgrade for firms with a plus</li> </ul>	rating. Firms don't seem to persue an upgrade. European firms thus seem to avoid
								minus notch credit rating from (to) middle notch ratings	notch rating	additional costs but don't seem to engage in earnings management in order to signal a
Credit ratings, risk								H2a: for firms with a plus or minus notch rating, changes in earnings smoothness are positively (negatively) related to	<ul> <li>Earnings smoothing activities appears to be an effective tool in managing credit ratings</li> </ul>	better quality and potentially reduce their cost.
agencies, financial		Earnings Smoothing Activities of	Contemporary Accounting					H2b: For firms with a plus or minus notch rating, smoothness change associated with change in discretionary		
disclosure	Jung, Soderstrom and Yang	Firms to Manage Credit Ratings	Research	COMPUSTAT	1990-2008	2013		smoothing activities is positively (negatively) related to the likelihood of subsequent rating upgrades (downgrades)		
Capital structure								H1: Credit ratings are a material consideration in managers' capital structure decisions due to the discrete costs (benefits) accoriated with different ration levels	Credit ratings directly affect capital structure decisions by managers     Managers are concerned with ratings direct to the firm and the affects of regulations on bond	<ul> <li>Managers seem to try to avoid a downgrade but not persue an upgrade in credit rating.</li> <li>They thus ream concerned with avoiding to signal a lower quality but don't persue to signal.</li> </ul>
credit ratings,							What is the impact of credit	H2: Firms close to a credit rating upgrade or downgrade will issue less debt relative to equity to either avoid a	investors	a higher firm quality
leverage, tradeoff							ratings on capital structure	downgrade or increase the chance of an upgrade	- Rating results are consistent with managers viewing ratings as signals of firm quality	
theory, pecking order	Kisgen	Credit ratings and capital structure	The journal of Finance	COMPUSTAT	1986-2001	2006	decisions of the firm	H0: The effects are equal at all ratings	<ul> <li>Capital structure decisions are affected by the potential for both an upgrade as well as a downgrade</li> <li>A firm's capital structure decision is affected more by whether the firm's credit rating was downgraded the</li> </ul>	
									previous year than by whether the firm's leverage changed the previous year or previous two years.	
									<ul> <li>Firms are more likely to reduce debt and less likely to issue debt following a downgrade</li> </ul>	
									<ul> <li>Inis behavior is independent or distress concerns, timing activity and yearly business cycle effects and is consistent with a long-term capital structure policy of targeting a minimum credit rating</li> </ul>	
									- Firms target the investment grade rating level	
									<ul> <li>The effect of discrete credit rating level benefits on capital structure behavior is complementary to the tradeoff there of an intervention. A descended is condition for insure to behavior of an entrolling for a there</li> </ul>	
Capital structure,									tradeoff theory of capital structure. A dowing add is predictive for issuance denavior after controlling for other tradeoff theory factors	
credit ratings,									- Firms whose leverage has increased (decreased) the previous year or the year before are more likely to	
leverage, financing	M	Do firms target credit ratings or	Journal of Financial and	0011010717	1007 0000	2000			undertake leverage reducing (increasing capital market activity the following year, and several other tradeoff	
policy	Kisgen	levelage levels?	Quantitative Analysis	COMPOSIAI	1987-2003	2005		Do agency problems between managers and claim holders increase yields on secured debt to a greater extent than on	There is a positive yield differential between secured and unsecured debt.	
Credit ratings, secured								unsecured debt	- Rating agencies fail to fully incorporate the effects of the agency problems when determining credit ratings	
debt, unsecured debt,									- The agency problems have a larger incremental impact on the yields of collateralized than general debt issues	
financial management,										
secured loans,										
mortgage loans, debt		Credit ratings, collateral and loan characteristics: Implications for								
bunkruptcy	Kose, Lynch & Puri	yield	The Journal of Business	Securities Data Corporation	1993-1995	2003				
Discretioner								H0: There are zero discretionary accruals	- A performance-matched discretionary accrual measure is useful in mitigating type 1 errors in cases where the	
earnings management									researchers partitioning variable or interest is correlated with performance     researchers should include a constant term when estimating the Jones and modified-lones models because	
performance									doing so serves to further mitigate model misspecification	
matching,		Desfermence matched	terrent of Association and							
models	Kothari, Leone & Wasley	discretionary accrual measures	Economics	Compustat	1962-1999	2005				
		The Rating Agencies and their								
		Credit Ratings: What They Are, How They Work and Why They Are								
	Langohr and Langohr	Relevant	John Wiley & Sons Itd.	Boek		2010				
Stababaldes the		Stakeholder influence on earnings						H1: There is a significant relationship between corporate governance and risk management in the GCC banking sector	There is a negative significant association between role duality and risk committee.	
earnings management.		considerations and potential						nz. There is a significant relationship between governmental ownership and risk management in the GCC banking sector	<ul> <li>there is no significant relation between risk management and the percentage or nonexecutives on the board or CEO turnover.</li> </ul>	
ethical implications	Loy	avenues	Corporate Ownership and Control	Compustat	2000-2003	2016			There is a positive significant relationship between governmental ownership and risk management.	
Information sharing, finance more!									- Credit rating agencies function primarily to certify the values of economic entities that approach them	
hazard, bank loans										
information										
intermediaries,										
portfolio										
information		Moral hazard and information								
economics, moral		sharing: A model of financial								
hazard models	Millon & Thakor	information gathering agencies	The journal of Finance			1985	1	1	1	

		When earnings management								
	Millstein	becomes cooking the books	Financial Times			2005				
		I. Reform or Revolution? The							<ul> <li>An extensive new rating agency regime was adopted in 2009 with the credit rating agency regulation.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>After the new rating agency regime there were no more significant variables that show the</li> </ul>
		financial crisis, EU financial							<ul> <li>The credit rating agency proposal of 2010 contains substantive revisions, which will subject rating agencies to additional agency proposal of 2010 contains substantive revisions, which will subject rating agencies to</li> </ul>	relation between credit rating changes and earnings management.
	Malanau	markets law and the European	International & Comparative Law	<i>'</i>		2011			European Securities and Markets Authority	
	Mondhi'r	Rating symbols and definitions	Quarterly			2011				
									- Even when analysts expressed their concern about the soundness of a rating, their analysis was often ignored	
		The credit ratios apencies and their							or marginalised.	
	Mullard	contribution to the financial crsis	The Political Quarterly			2012			and rate bonds that were presented to the CRA by issuers	
									<ul> <li>It is generally better to issue safe securities than risky ones.</li> </ul>	
									- Firms whose investment opportunities outstrip operating cash flows, and which have used up their ability to	
									issue low-risk det, may forego good investments rather than issue risky securities to finance them.	
									<ul> <li>Firms can build up financial stack by restricting dividends when investment requirements are modest.</li> <li>The firm should not pay a dividend if it has to recoun the cash by selling stock or some other risky security.</li> </ul>	
		Corporate financing and							- When managers have superior information, and stock is issued to finance investment, stock price will fall.	
		investment decisions when firms							other things equal.	
		have information that investors do							<ul> <li>A merger of a slack-rich and slack-poor firm increases the firm's combined value.</li> </ul>	
	Myers and Mailuf	not have	Journal of Financial Economics			1984				
								H1: the earliest quarter in which earnings management is likely to occur is the quarter immediately preceeding the	<ul> <li>Discretionary accounting accruals in the period surrounding the offering predict a portion of the subsequent</li> </ul>	
Searcoard equity				Directory of Corporate Financing				onering announcement. H2: carnings management is most intery in the quarter immediately preceduing, the quarter or, and the two quarters subsequent to the offering appointment. H2: There is a persitive relation between earnings	Directationary account during the year around the offering are penalticely correlated with earnings chapter in	
offerings, earnings		Earnings management and the		Registerd Offerings Statistics tape				management in vaer 0 and subsequent earnings changes. H4: There is a negative relation between vear 0 earnings	the following very conclusion with carrings changes in the following very	
mangement, market		performance of seasoned equity		of the Securities Exchange				management and subseuent stock returns.	- Discretionary accruals around the offering predict market-adjusted stock returns in the following year.	
efficiency	Rangan	offerings	Journal of Financial Economics	Commission	1987-1990	1998			- The stock market does not correctly value the implications of discretionary accruals	
								H1a: After controlling for sales levels, suspect firm-years exhibit at least one of the following: unusually low cash flow	<ul> <li>There is a negative association between institutional ownership and real activities manipulation</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Leverage is negatively associated with accrual-based earnings management</li> </ul>
								from operations (CFO) or unusually low discretionary expenses	- The presence of debt, the stock of inventories and receivables and growth opportunities are positively related	
								H2a. After controlling for sales levels, suspect firm-years exhibit unusually righ production costs	There is real activities manipulation among firms to issue to avoid parative among formers to avoid parative among	
								other suspect firm-years	Firms reporting small positive profits and small positive forecast errors manage earning through ceal	
								H4a: Ceteris paribus, suspect firm-years with debt outstanding exhibit abnormal production costs that are higher, and	<ul> <li>Prints reporting small positive profits and small positive forecast errors manage earnings through real activities</li> </ul>	
								abnormal discretionary expenses that are lower than other suspect firm-years		
								H5a: Ceteris paribus, suspect firm-years with high market-to-book exhibit abnormal production costs that are higher		
								than, and abnormal discretionary expenses that are lower than other suspect firm-years		
								H6a: Ceteris paribus, suspect firm-years with high current liabilities as a percentage of total assets exhibit abnormal		
								production costs that are higher than, and abnormal discretionary expenses that are lower than, other suspect firm-		
								years		
								H7a: Ceteris paribus, suspect firm-years with a high level of inventories and receivables as a percentage of total assets		
Capital markets,		Forming an annual share who	Invested of Association and					exhibit abnormal production costs that are higher than other suspect firm years		
accounting choice,	Rowshowshury	carnings management through	Journal of Accounting and	COMPLISTAT	1997-2001	2006		Heat Letteris parious, suspect firm-years with high institutional ownership exhibit abnormal production costs that are		
currings manipulation	S&P	Guide to credit rating essentials	McGraw Hill Financial	COMPOSIN	1507-1001	2014		tower, and abhorman districtionally expenses that are ingree than other suspect in myears		
		The case for a European public								
	Schneinert	credit rating agency				2016				
		Selective disclosure and insider				2000				
	350	trading				2000		Managerial response hypothesis	- Net income and accruals are abnormally high around equity offerings and pre-offering abnormal accruals	
								Alternative hypothesis:	predict subsequent declines in net income	
							Do firms overstate earnings	Managers overstate earnings before seasoned equity offerings because of opportunism or hubris	- Investors appear to rationally infer this earnings management at equity offerings announcements and, as a	
Corporate finance,							before seasoned equity		result, reduce their price response to unexpected earnings released after offering announcements	
accruals, earnings							offerings and, at offerings		- At the offering announcement, investors seem to correct the price impact of earlier earnings management	
management,							announcements, do		<ul> <li>Investors unravel earnings management well before an equity offering</li> </ul>	
seasoned equity		Do Firms Mislead Investors by	leveral of Association and				investors recognize and		<ul> <li>Earnings management by issuers, rather than being intended to mislead investors, may actually be the estimated assesses of issuers to anticipated models behavior at efforing assessments.</li> </ul>	
announcement	Shivakumar	Seasoned Equity Offerings?	Fronomics	Securities Data Corporation	1983-1992	2000	earnings management		rational response of issuers to anticipated market behavior at oriening announcements	
								H1: the amount of debt issued is negatively associated with the fund flow deficit H2: There is a positive association	- The pecking order is an excellent first-order descriptor of corporate financing behavior.	
								between the target debt level of a firm and the target-adjustment coefficient	- The simple target adjustment model, when tested independently, also seems to perform well.	
									- When the two models are tested joitnly, the coefficients and significance of the pecking order models change	
									hardly at all.	
Financing, capital									<ul> <li>The strong performance of the pecking order does noet occur just because firms fund unanticipated cash</li> </ul>	
structure, static		Testing static tradeoff against							needs with debt in the short run.	
pecking order theory	Shyam-Sunder and Myers	structure	Journal of Financial Economics	Compustat	1971-1989	1999			pecking order when false can easily be rejected even when also. The	
,			in the second find				1		Discretionary current accruals are high around the IPO relative to those of nonissuers	
									- Issuers with high discretionary accruals have poorer stock return performance in the subsequent three years	
									- Firms classified to be in the most agressive quartile of IPO earnings managers eperiences on average a 15 to	
							This paper examines the		30 percent worse three year performance after its earnings report than a firm classified to be in the most	
				Securities Data Corporation (IBO			relation between the long-		conservative quartile The IRO insuers in the conservative quartile also rature to the capital market for	
		Farnings management and the		data)			underperformance and IPO		about 20 percent more frequently over a five-year period than those in the appreciate quartile indication a	
		long-run market performance of		Compustat (financial data)			firms' earnings		potential post-issue benefit to less-aggressive IPO earnings management	
	Teoh, Welch and Wong	initial public offerings	Journal of Finance	CRSP (stock return data)	1985-1992	1998	management			
Corporate finance,							This paper examines		- Discretionary current accruals grow before the offering, peak in the offering year, and decline thereafter. This	
seasoned equity				1			whether pre-issue earnings		causes net income to grow before, peak in, and decline after the offering year	
offerings, earnings				1			managements, as reflected		- There is a negative relation between pre-issue discretionary current accruals and post-issue earnings and stock	
management,		Earnings management and the		1			in discretionary accruals,		returns	
accounting accruals, anomalies market		underperformance of seasoned		1			underperformance of		<ul> <li>The uscreationary component or current accruais explains ruture returns as well as the book-to-market ratio does and considerably better than firm size</li> </ul>	
efficiency	Teoh, Welch and Wong	equity offerings	Journal of Financial Economics	COMPUSTAT, CRSP	1970-1989	1998	seasoned equity issuers			
								Companies with a greater proportion of independent directors will be less likely to engage in earnings management	- Earnings management is less likely to occur or occurs less often in companies whose boards include both	
								than those whose boards are staffed primarily with inside directors	more independent outside directors and directors with corporate experience	
									The composition of the audit committee is associated with the level of earnings management and thereby	
									may allow a committee to better perform oversight functions	
		Earning: Management and							The proportion of sudit committee members with corporate or investment banking backing is exectively	
Board of directors		Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles							The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment banking backgrounds is negatively     related to the level of earnings management	
Board of directors, earnings management,		Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit		S&P 500					The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment banking backgrounds is negatively     related to the level of earnings management     There is an association between lower levels of earnings management and the meeting frequency of boards	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee	Journal of Corporate Finance	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT	1992, 1994, 1996	2002			The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment banking backgrounds is negatively     related to the level of examings management     There is an association between lower levels of earnings management and the meeting frequency of boards     and audit committees	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee	Journal of Corporate Finance	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT	1992, 1994, 1996	2002		H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earnings management prior to bond issuance	The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment banking backgrounds is negatively     reletate to the level of aernings management     There is an association between lower levels of armings management and the meeting frequency of boards     and audit committee     Observed abnormal accruals are negatively related to the cost of bond financing when controlling for firm-	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee Earnings management,	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee	Journal of Corporate Finance	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New	1992, 1994, 1996	2002		H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earnings management prior to bond issuance H2: If the market does not fully understand the extent of earnings management, income-increasing earnings	The proportion of audic committee members with corporate or investment bashing backgrounds is negatively related to the level of earning management and the meeting frequency of bards and audic committee     Observed abnormal accruate are negatively related to the cost of bond manufacture of the meeting when controlling for firm- and sub-specific drartseristics	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee Earnings management, cost of debt, securities offeringer	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee Earnings management surrounding	Journal of Corporate Finance	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New Issues Database, Compustat, rese	1992, 1994, 1996	2002		H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earnings management prior to bond issuance H2: If the market does not fully understand the entert of earnings management, income-increasing earnings management at bond issuing at bond issuing firms may lead to a lower cost of debt	- The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment bashing backgrounds is negatively related to the level of earning management and the meeting frequency of boards and audit committee     - There is an association between lower levels of samings management and the meeting frequency of boards and audit committee     - Deserved abnormal accruaits are negatively related to the cost of board francing when controlling for frm- and subs-section data to lower receivable on the cost of dobt financing - Income increasing earnings management leads to lower costs of dobt financing	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee Earnings management, cost of debt, securities offerings	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt Yixin, Ning & Davidson III	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee Earnings management surrounding new debt issues	Journal of Corporate Finance Financial Review	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New Issues Database, Compustat, CRSP	1992, 1994, 1996 1970-2004	2002		H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earnings management prior to bond issuance     H2: If the market does not fully understand the extent of earnings management, income-increasing earnings     management at bond issuing at bond sixing firms may lead to a lower cost of dett     H14: Cetts and thus the likelihood of accessarily all contents and active the 'inverses' in 'inverses'	The proportion of audic committee members with corporate or investment basing backgrounds is negatively     related to the level of earnings management and the meeting frequency of backs     and audic committee     Observed abnormal accruate mergetively related to the cost of band francing     backgrounds accurate mergetively related to the cost of band francing when controlling for firm-     mode subsequences of the subsequence of the subse	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee Earnings management, cost of debt, securities offerings	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt Yixin, Ning & Davidson III	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audt Committee Earnings management surrounding new debt issues	Journal of Corporate Finance Financial Review	S&P S00 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New Issues Database, Compustat, CRSP	1992, 1994, 1996 1970-2004	2002		H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earnings management prior to bond issurance     H2: If the market does not fully understand the extent of earnings management, income-increasing earnings     management at bond issuing at bond issuing firms may lead to a lower cost of debt     H1a: Ceteris paribus, the likelihood of a covenant violation following a negative shock increases in borrower     conservation	The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment bashing backgrounds is negatively     related to the level of earning management and the meeting frequency of baards     and audit committee     There is an association between lower levels of earnings management and the meeting frequency of baards     and audit committee     Observed abnormal accruata are negatively related to the cost of band financing     encode abnormal accruata are negatively related to the cost of band financing     income increasing earnings management leads to lower costs of debt financing     -The likelihood of coverant volutions after negative shocks increases in borover conservation, and more     conscruptive backs increases is borover conservation.	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee Earnings management, cost of debt, securities offerings	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt Yoxin, Ning & Davidson III	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee Earnings management surrounding new debt issues	Journal of Corporate Finance Financial Review	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New Issues Database, Compustat, CRSP	1992, 1994, 1996 1970-2004	2002 2010	What are the contracting	H1: Firms engage in income increasing earnings management prior to band issuance     H2: If the marked does not fully understand the extent of earnings management, income increasing earnings     management a band issuing at band sissing firms may lead to a lower cost of doet     H12: Cetteris parbus, the likelihood of a coverant violation filesing a magniture shock increases in borrower     H12: Cetteris parbus, more conservative borrowers violate their coverants socret than less conservation	The proportion of audit committee members with corporate or investment basing backgrounds is negatively     related to the level of earning management and the meeting frequency of boards     and audit committee     Observed abnormal accruate are negatively related to the cost of abnormal exclusion of the meeting frequency of boards     audit committee     Observed abnormal accruate are negatively related to the cost of abnormal exclusion for time-     mode to the cost of earning management. The likelihood of comman violations management leads to four cost of debt financing     The likelihood of comman violations after negative holds: Intereases in borrower conversions, and more     consurvative borrowers violate covenants soorer	
Board of directors, earnings management, cost of debt, securities offerings Conservatism, debt	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt Yixin, Ning & Davidson III	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee Earnings management surrounding new debt issues The contracting benefits of	Journal of Corporate Finance Financial Review	S&P 500 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New Issues Database, Compustat, CRSP	1992, 1994, 1996 1970-2004	2002	What are the contracting benefits of accounting	H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earning: management prior to bond issuance     H2: If the market does not fully understand the electr of earning: management, income-increasing earnings     management at bod sixing at bond sixing firms may lead to a lower cost of det     H1s. Ceteris parbus, the likelihood of a coverant violation following angeptive shock increases in borrower     concorrolm     H1b. Ceteris parbus, nore conservative borrowers)     H1s. Ceteris parbus, cost of det to lower contractive borrowers     H1s. Ceteris parbus, the likelihood of a coverant violation following angeptive shock increases in borrower     concorrolm	The proportion of audit committee members with comporter or investment basing basing basing must growth is negatively     related to the level of an animality management.     There is an association between lower levels of an image management and the meeting frequency of basins     Observed abnormal accurates are negatively related to the cost of body management tead to the meeting when controlling for firm-     met association between lower levels of the single states and the second states are negatively related to the cost of body management tead to be record and the financing     - The likelihood of covenent volucions and the registries bucks increases is borrower conservatives, and more     conscruting the sensitivity of the cost of debt to promever to the level of conservations     - Performance and debt is conservative to the level of conservations	
Board of directors, earnings management, audit committee Earnings management, cost of debt, securities offerings Conservatism, debt contracting, covenant	Xie, Davidson and DaDalt Yisin, Ning & Davidson III	Earnings Management and Corporate Governance: The Roles of the Board and the Audit Committee Earnings management surrounding new debt issues The contracting benefits of accounting conservatism to	Journal of Corporate Finance Financial Review Journal of Accounting and	S&P S00 COMPUSTAT Securities Data Corporation New Issues Database, Compustat, CRSP	1992, 1994, 1996 1970-2004	2002	What are the contracting benefits of accounting conservation in the debt	H1: Firms engage in income-increasing earnings management prior to band issuance     H2: If the market door not fully understand the extent of earnings management, income increasing earnings     management at band issuing at band sixing firms may be to a lower cost of dobr     H1: Ceterin parbus, the likelihood of a covenant violation followings a negative shock increases in borrower     Constraints, nore constraints door soverant violation their covariants constraints be borrowers     H1: Ceterin parbus, the cost of dobr is lower for more conservative borrowers     H2: Ceterin parbus, the cost of dobr is lower for more conservative borrowers     H2: Ceterin parbus, the cost of dobt is lower for more conservative borrowers	The proportion of audic committee members with corporate or investment basing basing basignounds is negatively     related to the level of earning management and the meeting frequency of boards     and audic committee     Observed abnormal accruate are negatively related to the cost of abnormal members     Observed abnormal accruates are negatively related to the cost of abnormal web resolution between the second second members     Observed abnormal accruates are negatively related to the cost of abnormal members     Observed abnormal accruates are negatively related to the cost of abnormal members     Observed abnormal exclusions management leads to lower costs of debt financing     Observed abnormatively related to boards and members     Observed abnormatively observed to boards and members     Observed abnormatively observed to boards and members     Observed abnormatively observed to boards abnormatively     Observed abnormatively observed to boards abnormatively     Observed abnormatively observed to boards abnormatively     Observed abnormatively observed to boards     Observed abnormatively     Observed abnormatively observed to boards     Observed abnormatively     Observed abn	